



## Beeck Center for Social Impact + Innovation: Better Outcomes Series

The Beeck Center for Social Impact + Innovation at Georgetown University launched its Government Innovation portfolio in 2014 to drive an action-oriented dialogue on how government can more effectively partner with cross-sector leaders—from government, business, civil society, and philanthropy—to reimagine and transform the public sector for the twenty-first century. With the rapid proliferation and adoption of new digital technologies and tools, the world is changing at an exponential rate. Government leaders now have an unprecedented opportunity to tap into these seismic technological shifts to unleash profound social impact for citizens. By harnessing new data and technologies, combined with an increasing knowledge of what works, decision makers are now better equipped than ever before to design policy for impact. The Beeck Center embraces the challenge of identifying and advancing solutions that have the potential to achieve transformative, systemic impact at scale.

In November 2014, the Beeck Center released *Funding for Results: How Governments Can Pay for Outcomes*, the first publication in its **Better Outcomes Series**, and convened over 100 global leaders for a day-long conversation on "Designing Policy for Impact." The report examines five case studies and presents a detailed exploration of the challenges and opportunities associated with transitioning individual public programs to outcomes-focused funding mechanisms that deliver better results for citizens.

One year later, the Beeck Center is releasing the second publication in the series, *Smarter Government for Social Impact: A New Mindset for Better Outcomes*. This paper builds on research from *Funding for Results* to recommend strategies for transforming the public sector and shifting billions of dollars in public spending to incentivize and pay for policies and programs that deliver impact.

## Acknowledgements

The Beeck Center for Social Impact + Innovation at Georgetown University seeks to transform the social sector through innovative, actionable frameworks that leverage capital, technology, and inclusion to achieve social impact at scale. The Center engages global leaders and influencers in solutions-focused dialogue and pursues action-oriented, dynamic research combined with experiential opportunities to provide tools for social change. We promote collaborative spaces that foster new ideas and prepare the next generation of leaders to create positive change in the world.

The Beeck Center's Government Innovation portfolio helps leaders across government, business, civil society, and philanthropy reimagine the public sector for the twenty-first century. New data and technologies have presented U.S. policymakers with an unprecedented opportunity to use evidence and outcomes to drive impact and accomplish more for citizens. The Beeck Center's work highlights how outcomes-focused public policies, innovative social service delivery models, and multi-sector leadership are disrupting the current system and affecting transformative change. Smarter Government for Social Impact: A New Mindset for Better Outcomes asks how the public sector can build an innovative government for the future—one that is able to respond to modern challenges and creatively seek out solutions to some of society's most intractable problems.

The Beeck Center would like to thank Jim Shelton for his contribution as co-architect of this paper, which was born out of his keynote remarks at our November 2014 convening, "Designing Policy for Impact." Jim has been an incredible partner to the Beeck Center since our founding, and it has been both an honor and a sincere pleasure to collaborate with him on this project and to evolve our thinking together. We also want to acknowledge Marta Urquilla, co-architect of this paper with Jim Shelton, for her incredible leadership in producing this paper.

We are ever grateful to the collaborative spirit of our external authors and colleagues in the field who so graciously gave of their time and writing to help develop and strengthen the paper. Laurel Blatchford, Linda Gibbs, Jeremy Keele, and Justin Milner contributed invaluable insights with documented examples from across the United States that are highlighted throughout this paper. We extend a special thank you to Linda Gibbs, who provided consultation and expertise throughout the drafting and review process, for her generous support and guidance and for always inspiring us.

This paper also benefited from the engagement of key experts across government, philanthropy, and the social sector. We would like to extend our gratitude to these diverse experts and stakeholders for their valuable input, in particular, Gretchen Anderson, Melissa Bradley, Stuart Buck, Kimberlee Cornett, Kristin Giantris, Kelly Kinneen, Josh McGee, Kira Mikityanskaya,

Karla Sainz, Kathryn Stack, and Nicole Truhe. We are grateful for the leadership of these key stakeholders and their role in strengthening the policy conversation.

We would like to acknowledge the Laura and John Arnold Foundation for its previous support of the Beeck Center, which made possible the launch of our Government Innovation work in 2014 with the publication of our report, *Funding for Results: How Governments Can Pay for Outcomes*, and the accompanying policy convening. This paper builds on that work, and we are grateful for the opportunity to continue to pursue and expand our research in this area.

We especially thank the Case Foundation for its generous operating support of the Beeck Center, which has made possible the online publication and distribution of this paper.

Finally, we recognize the efforts of the Beeck Center team for the dedication and hard work that went into the production of this paper. Our thanks especially go to Ariel Perkins for providing essential drafting, editing, and research support throughout the project, and Lauren Khouri for sharing valuable edits and guidance. We are also appreciative of the contributions of our tireless student analysts who exemplify the spirit of teamwork and academic excellence cultivated at Georgetown University.

Sonal Shah, The Beeck Center for Social Impact + Innovation



# SMARTER GOVERNMENT FOR SOCIAL IMPACT:

A New Mindset for Better Outcomes

Beeck Center for Social Impact + Innovation at Georgetown University with Jim Shelton



## **Table of Contents**

About this Paper	i
Acknowledgements	ii
Introduction	1
Overview: Transforming the System	7
Creating an Outcomes Mindset	8
Rallying Support for Change	12
Developing the Supporting Infrastructures	15
Building an Outcomes Marketplace	25
What's Next for Stakeholders	33
Conclusion	41
Glossary of Key Terms	43
Endnotes	49
About the Authors	57



### Introduction

In 2007, a treatable toothache took the life of 12-year-old Deamonte Driver in Prince George's County, Maryland. A routine \$80 tooth extraction could have saved the boy's life, but Deamonte and his family faced obstacles to timely treatment. Adding to the challenges already confronting the family living in poverty, administrative barriers in Maryland's public benefits system complicated their access to service. While Deamonte's family was eligible for Medicaid, their coverage had lapsed when they moved out of a shelter and paperwork was sent to an old address. Even with coverage, finding a dentist willing to treat high-need, low-income youth would have been difficult: Medicaid reimbursements in Maryland were set so low that few dentists were willing to treat these patients. As a result, fewer than one in three Medicaid children in the state received dental care in 2005.¹ By the time Deamonte was admitted to the hospital, it was too late. The underlying bacterial infection causing his toothache had spread from his tooth to his brain, costing \$250,000 in emergency medical care and ultimately his life.²

Shockingly, the barriers Deamonte faced in receiving timely and effective treatment are encountered throughout the healthcare system. Rather than paying to provide all Medicaid patients with needed dental treatments that improve overall health, government often pays only when these patients end up in the ER, at a price averaging three times that of a routine dental visit.<sup>3</sup> The total cost to U.S. taxpayers is around \$2.1 billion: \$1.7 billion more than if government fully covered the provision of routine dental care for all Medicaid recipients.<sup>4</sup> Rather than paying for better care, such as regular dental checkups and preventive treatments, that lead to better outcomes for citizens and society, too often government pays only for high-cost, emergency services that do not solve root problems and leave patients and taxpayers worse off.

Tragedies like Deamonte's may have been unavoidable in the past, but every day new data and emergent technologies are presenting opportunities for government to learn from policy failures and successes and act on new knowledge about what works to improve the lives of citizens. As we move into the future, we need a twenty-first century government system that can respond to rapid change and adapt its behavior to produce better outcomes for citizens. We need a government that applies smart incentives and leverages modern tools to enable policymakers to make better informed decisions, to identify and address systemic barriers to effective and efficient service delivery, and to seek out and promote innovative solutions to our greatest social challenges. **America needs a smarter government.** 

Smarter government embraces cutting-edge data and technology to make better funding and policy choices, to test new roads to success, to become more attuned to citizens, and to tackle social issues with improved results. Smarter government uses real-time information to

i For a formal definition of how this paper views and uses the term *smarter government*, see the glossary at the end of this paper.

find the best method of implementing policy to achieve outcomes without prescribing *what* that method is, will be, or should be in the future, relying instead on responsive tools to identify best practices for different communities at different times.

Smarter government is already becoming a reality in communities across the United States, with cities, counties, and states providing countless examples of smarter approaches to policies and programs. In Louisville, Kentucky, "smart" asthma inhalers track where attacks happen citywide and feed this data into a government dashboard, helping policymakers identify hot spots to improve air quality and better treat patients.<sup>5</sup> In Salt Lake County, Utah, policymakers are expanding access to high-quality preschool programs to improve educational outcomes for at-risk youth and decrease long-term government spending on special education.<sup>6</sup> In New York and Texas, policymakers are seeking to reform Medicaid with "value-based payments" that reward doctors for performing preventive procedures that protect against costly tests and treatments down the road and could save the lives of citizens like Deamonte Driver.<sup>7</sup>

What all of these initiatives share in common is a smarter approach to policymaking: an operating belief that government can and should reward the *best policies and programs* by paying for the *best outcomes* and using the *best data and technology* to identify solutions that can transform service delivery and strengthen citizens' connection to government. Smarter policymaking and results-oriented mindsets are ushering in a new era of government and creating a singular moment of opportunity for America to maximize on the power of smarter government for social impact.

#### America Needs Smarter Government

Americans deserve a smarter government, and together we can build one. New data analysis software, citizen engagement apps, and socially minded technologies are narrowing the gap between the public and private sector and generating unprecedented potential for government to innovate for the twenty-first century. Using data and technology more effectively, however, is only one aspect of what is needed for a smarter government. Smarter government also requires shifting personnel and systemic processes to actively embrace, cultivate, and adopt innovative and flexible social policy, and this starts when government embraces an **outcomes mindset**.

An outcomes mindset aligns clear goals with the incentives to achieve them, and actively uses existing data and technology to find better answers faster and at better costs through continuous improvement and learning. System-wide adoption of such a new mindset will not happen overnight in government, but significant change will occur when money is on the line and the public sector begins to tie real dollars to outcomes-focused policy. Financing for outcomes is a critical first step toward an outcomes mindset. It is both a principle and a practice that government must institutionalize if it is to create meaningful progress.

In our nation's capital, excitement is coalescing around the future of this funding approach and the potential of new data management and technologies to make this vision a reality. Programs described variously as Pay for Success, outcomes-focused, evidence-driven, success-oriented, and results-based have attracted high-profile attention from foundation boardrooms to Congressional briefing rooms. Books such as *Moneyball for Government* and *Show Me the Evidence* provide background for bipartisan Congressional action and federal initiatives, including Innovation Funds, Pay for Success pilots, the Performance Partnership Pilots (P3), and measures in the Workforce Innovation and Opportunity Act (WIOA). Recent articles in such major publications as the *New York Times*, the *Los Angeles Times*, the *Atlantic*, and the *Huffington Post* thighlight the promise of early success stories and similarly underscore the need for outcomes-focused policy to address critical national problems across a remarkably diverse set of policy areas.

All of these initiatives, however, reflect only a portion of what is needed for government to pursue smarter, outcomes-focused policy. This transformation of government to a reliance on data, innovation, and novel funding methods requires a new paradigm for how government thinks about, funds, and evaluates social policies and programs.

#### Where We Are Now

Paying for the achievement of end outcomes often not only costs less over time, but also reduces needless suffering and can improve Americans' quality of life. A smarter government that pays for results is common sense, but this is not how government is currently wired to think about public spending in social services.

Although government has begun to use data, evidence, and outcomes to drive decisions in certain policy areas, it has barely scratched the surface of applying these tools for *better social outcomes at scale*. At present, only a very small percentage of federal government spending on social policy is oriented to an outcomes mindset. Out of the \$1.11 trillion FY2015 discretionary budget, around 1 percent. was allocated to specific outcomes-focused initiatives. Government does not need to funnel more money into social programs; it needs to spend existing money better by directing dollars toward smarter policy that achieves social impact.

The present government mindset for public funding views social responsibility through the lens of spending accountability, an institutionalized behavior that has heavily defined both the financial and policy infrastructure of our social services. As a result, spending and contracts are linked to the performance of activities without necessarily ensuring that these activities are achieving the outcomes policies set out to accomplish. While embodying the spirit of responsible government, this funding system *incentivizes compliance* without assessing impact, and *disincentivizes innovations* that could drive significant improvements

ii The estimate varies depending on what is classified as "outcomes-focused." For instance, the FY2015 budget allocates up to \$70 million for the Social Innovation Fund, with up to 20 percent allotted to Pay For Success initiatives, and up to \$300 million for the PFS Incentive Fund in the Department of the Treasury.

across communities. Our funding paradigm needs to shift to an understanding that accountability and social responsibility also means seizing opportunities to get to better results.

Public spending creates very real market incentives, and these financial incentives are presently aligned against new solutions. A classic example of misaligned incentives in public spending is found in higher education funding. For decades, government has rewarded universities for student enrollment without tying those payments to degree completion rates,13 creating a perverse incentive for higher education institutions to enroll as many students as possible while providing little incentive to ensure that students graduate.14 The consequences of this funding model reach well beyond the classroom. Students who enroll in college but fail to complete degrees face higher levels of debt and are three times more likely to default on loans, despite owing less than college graduates. These students also stand to earn 66 percent less than graduates, a disparity that averages to about a \$1 million difference in earnings over the course of a lifetime. 15 Such unintended consequences do more than hurt students; they influence rates of income inequality, cut into American economic competitiveness, and reflect missed opportunities to develop more effective student retention and college readiness programs. Smarter government policy reevaluates these incentives and seeks solutions that incentivize universities to successfully enroll and graduate more students prepared for life after graduation. Smarter, performance-based measures such as these are being implemented, iterated on, and tested across the United States from Ohio to Florida to Tennessee, with the goal of increasing the retention and graduation rates of students facing social or economic barriers to completion.<sup>16</sup>

Smarter government requires asking what incentives the public market is creating, whether those incentives align with policy aims, and if incentives need to be adjusted. This is not easy, and it requires assessing whether government is even collecting the right data to find solutions and measure results. And of course, some outcomes (and problems) are easier than others to identify, measure, and fund.

Policymakers may not set the right incentives or find the best solutions the first time around, but the simple truth is that the current funding system already has perverse incentives to preserve inefficient programs and policies. Government can only gain by directing more funding toward finding creative and modern solutions to our greatest challenges. Government does not escape risk by standing still in a fast-changing world. An outcomes-focused agenda is a risk we must take because our country stands to lose much more if government does not adopt a smarter mindset for the twenty-first century.

Outcomes-focused funding is an approach that enables innovation and has the potential to revolutionize how social programs are delivered to citizens. By focusing on achieving outcomes, setting clear success metrics, and gathering the right data, government can leverage and replicate the incentive structures that encourage innovation and continuous improvement in the private sector. By clearly defining desired end results, and not prescribing the process

or set of activities to get there, government can catalyze innovation and stimulate a public sector market that rewards and incentivizes doing what works.

Outcomes-focused funding is just one piece of what is needed to build a smarter government, but it is a crucial stepping-stone that carries broad implications for how policymakers, government, and the public sector as a whole assess and *imagine* policy for the future. Innovating to an outcomes mindset will challenge policymakers and providers alike, but such a system ultimately offers government a far better path to comprehensive solutions to our country's greatest social challenges. In an age of big data and vast technological advances, this approach is a critical step toward unlocking the potential of government to think smarter and more holistically about social issues. Government must improve its current funding system not only because it makes economic sense to do so, but more importantly, because doing so will improve the lives of millions of Americans and propel our nation forward.



## Overview: Transforming the System

Systems change is a highly complex and trying process. Meaningful transformation will only occur when government adopts a fresh, outcomes-focused mindset. All actors—policymakers, political leaders, and decision makers—must take concrete, interdependent steps to shift the current way government operates. Change will not happen organically. Leaders must foster the preconditions for success. Each of the action steps listed below is critical for this transformation and is discussed in detail in the following sections. These recommendations cannot be implemented in isolation; they rely on one another for the continuous learning and support that is critical for a successful new government system:

- Create an outcomes mindset. Foster a new institutional culture across government and stakeholders to change how policy operates within public programs;
- Rally support for change. Create the necessary political and civic context for sustainable change;
- Develop the supporting infrastructures. Construct the human and administrative
  capacity to support new policy and invest in robust data and evidence systems for
  adaptive learning;
- Build an outcomes marketplace. Shift the structure of public funding to encourage diversity and competition in the public service market and increase opportunities for innovation.

The following discussion provides guidance for policymakers and public sector leaders on how they can begin to work together toward real, transformational change. The recommendations outlined in this paper are intended to spark a critical dialogue and broaden the current conversation on outcomes-focused policy among the decision makers, advocates, and community members who together are vital to moving our country forward.

## Transforming the System

### **Creating an Outcomes Mindset**

An outcomes-driven government increases access to opportunity, makes government more accountable, and lifts every citizen. When government makes smarter cost-benefit assessments that envision larger economic and societal goals, every American wins. An outcomes-focused mindset helps drive solutions that empower communities while delivering services more effectively and generating both short- and long-term benefits for government and citizens.

To embrace an outcomes mindset, government needs to think about how business is done in the public sector in a new way. Current grants and funding agreements measure a set of activities with little to no consideration or measurement of whether these activities actually achieve policy goals. When government measures and funds for activities rather than results, it perpetuates a compliance mentality that permeates the entire system, from how government staff are trained to respond to citizens, to procurement practices, to how government approaches, assesses, and seeks to solve social problems.

Achieving better social results requires a mindset change at every level of government and across players in the nonprofit, philanthropic, and private sectors. All parties involved must learn to think in a way that rewards and continually measures for intended policy goals. This mindset shift requires government to reframe its questions from a position of accountability to one of outcomes: What is the root problem public funding is trying to solve with any given policy? What would a successful outcome or set of outcomes look like? How can achievement of those outcomes best be measured, validated, and rewarded? And how can government better collect and interpret data to test if it has found the right answers to these questions?

The current public funding system must be redesigned to incentivize, measure, and reward solutions and innovation over compliance. Government needs new financing mechanisms that deploy resources toward outcomes as well as new assessment and data collection methods to measure whether policies are achieving results and improving lives in communities. Administrative systems need to be reoriented to continuously monitor and evaluate policy based on impact. Government systems need to learn and improve from lessons about the effectiveness of policies and financial incentives. Without a fundamental shift in the mindset behind these financial and administrative structures, no number of pilots, interventions, or changes in procurement practices will produce better results from the public funding system.

This shift to an outcomes mindset is a massive disruption of existing institutional culture. Stakeholders should not be expected to adopt systems change easily or painlessly. To facilitate change and ease stakeholders' transition to a new system, government leadership needs to pursue five strategies to seed this new political and organizational mindset:

- Identify allies with common goals. Key groups of decision makers and stakeholders across the political and social spectrum are ready to adopt and support an outcomesfocused mindset. Some stakeholders might already see the value in shifting government to an outcomes market based on real rewards and consequences, and some of these stakeholders may already be working to implement policies and programs focused on results. Other groups stand to benefit from outcomes-focused funding but may not be aware of potential gains or how to operate in such a system. In other cases it maybe easier to reach consensus on desired outcomes (e.g., increasing college graduation rates) than on the methods to achieve them. Government leadership needs to form alliances with partners across the political, nonprofit, philanthropic, and private sectors to garner the necessary support and momentum to propel policy forward. Successful coalition building can help direct social service systems to work together toward achieving better outcomes for struggling families, as it has in Cuyahoga County, Ohio (see Box 1).
- Build centers of excellence and nurture new leaders. Embedding an outcomes-focused mindset in government requires fostering a new generation of leaders. Only a small minority of government leaders innately understand what an outcomes-focused approach entails, know where to look for examples, and have access to experts and practitioners who can help advance such strategies. The first step for building new government leadership and expertise on outcomes-focused approaches is investing in and developing centers of excellence. These centers can produce modules, train staff, and design processes for continuous learning and improvement. Creating a learning culture and developing a cadre of experts to promote collaboration, produce new approaches, and support the adoption of outcomes-focused practices among staff is critical for long-term success. Similar approaches are being adopted in such cities as Chicago and New York, where government has established offices that recruit data scientists to help government make better use of analytics in its day-to-day decision making.<sup>17</sup> However, using data more effectively and establishing independent offices is only the start of what is needed to shift all government leaders toward embracing and using an outcomes mindset.
- Help stakeholders embrace change. A change to an outcomes-focused system will
  inevitably produce apprehension among stakeholders concerned with such pragmatic
  issues as the future of existing policies and programs and the likelihood of receiving
  funding. Policymakers can disarm stakeholders' fear of change by nurturing trust,
  emphasizing shared values and goals, increasing transparency, and encouraging open
  dialogue. Government leaders will need to create an iterative system that uses evidence

and data to improve performance and share findings, while normalizing a degree of failure as a necessary component of innovation. Demonstrating the success of models such as Pay for Success, innovation funds, performance-based contracts, and other outcomes-focused prototypes will also help illustrate the appeal of this mindset to a broader group of individuals. Ultimately, moving toward an outcomes-focused system will appeal to many stakeholders because it grants both government and service providers the flexibility to spend dollars more effectively.

- Find systemic solutions across agencies and sectors. Getting better results often requires crossing traditional policy and program boundaries to solve for outcomes that do not fit neatly into any single government agency. The challenges confronting communities, individuals, and families often cut across administrative boxes. Families who have lost their homes interact with the foster care system, public housing, welfare, Medicaid, and many other services. It matters less which agencies provide which services, and more that the services actually help families regain their footing. To deliver better results for these citizens, cross-agency and cross-sector partners need to collectively solve for practical business challenges, institutional disincentives, and communication gaps within and across departments. For instance, one current disincentive to reform is the "wrong pockets problem," that is, when program savings do not accrue to the agencies or governments who bore the original costs. Finding solutions to institutional disincentives such as the "wrong pockets problem" is a necessary step for systems change.
- Provide the tools for change. Civil service and government-funded frontline workers perform best when they are given the flexibility and the means to focus more on achieving outcomes and less on managing compliance. To support a shift to an outcomes mindset, government needs to build new systems to collect and share data and information. Access to better technology and real-time data (e.g., dashboards) is crucial for assessing performance on the ground and for managing long-term, collaborative approaches to implement, monitor, and evaluate policies across agencies. Political and civil service leadership should also prepare and train personnel in government agencies for new institutional practices. This process requires gradually reforming policy, continuously soliciting internal feedback on implications for frontline workers and communities, and carefully monitoring the consequences of new policy.

## Partnering for Change:

## America's First County-Level Pay for Success Project

Laurel Blatchford, Senior Vice President of Solutions, Enterprise Community Partners, Inc.

The Partnering for Family Success project in Cuyahoga County, Ohio is a vivid example of how big change happens when dedicated stakeholders from the public and private sectors join forces to tackle social problems. Launched in January 2015, Partnering for Family Success helps reunite foster children with their families by providing vulnerable families experiencing homelessness with intensive case management and access to family-appropriate housing. The program helps families reconnect with community support networks and regain their footing, reducing the need for out-of-home care. Throughout its fouryear development phase, the Cuyahoga project has been made possible by champions both outside and within government, and by strong relationships with project partners.

The idea for Partnering for Family Success emerged when a local foundation learned about the Pay for Success model at a national conference. Pay for Success is a public-private partnership in which government agrees to pay an external organization if, and only if, the organization accomplishes the desired outcome. Often, external organizations turn to investors who bear the up-front cost—and therefore the risk—of achieving the targeted, successful outcome by contributing the working capital needed to implement the social services for the desired outcome. With the strong support of both the County Executive and a key senior staff member, Cuyahoga County began an exploratory partnership with Third Sector Capital Partners, Inc. (Third Sector). For the entire duration of the project's development, partners benefited from having a well-respected and connected funder at the table and a high-level and very capable County staffer driving the project forward on behalf of the County Executive.

Building support among all stakeholders required buy-in on two key concepts. First, although the same families were appearing in both the homelessness and child welfare systems, social service providers were not evaluating how these services overlapped, and data indicated that neither system was adequately addressing the families' needs. Second, the idea of Pay for Success had to be sold to all stakeholders as a solution that could harness data-driven decision making to provide new and more effective systems of care by better matching families with needed services.

Several contextual elements were also critical to the project's successful adoption. First, access to shared data was essential. A long-term partnership between Case Western Reserve University (CWRU) and the Cuyahoga County Division of Children and Family Services enabled CWRU to use an existing integrated database that included child welfare data to create an evaluation plan, improve referral sources, and help identify outcomes from the outset.

Second, the County's political leadership was invested in systems change. Councilmember leadership helped introduce and pass necessary legislation for the program. The County additionally created a new staff position responsible for bridging data between the child welfare and homelessness systems.

Finally, throughout contract negotiations, Third Sector served as a strong and sensitive outside facilitator.

The organization's efforts kept the project on track, allowed partners to get specific about implementation, and helped incorporate and balance the energy, capacity, and fresh perspectives of project investors.

As a relatively new project, many of the lessons learned for the Cuyahoga Partnering for Family Success project are yet to be uncovered. Partners are nevertheless hopeful that the strong spirit of collaboration built over the past three years will help the community's most vulnerable families for the next five years and beyond.

### Rallying Support for Change

Citizens want assurances that government policies are making the best use of public dollars. Americans value essential government services and are willing to pay taxes to support those services if they know their tax dollars are being used effectively. The rising millennial generation, for instance, supports taxes to help keep students out of debt, 9 82 percent of working Americans would pay more in taxes to preserve Social Security, and a majority of Americans think taxpayer dollars should be spent more efficiently before programs are cut. Americans, regardless of political party, are willing to support social programs if those programs are tied to clear outcomes, responsible spending, and better results.

Reorienting public funding to pay for results has all the hallmarks of a campaign stump speech, yet, despite broad bipartisan support, the political will to adopt an outcomes-focused financing system is not a given. Meaningful transformation of the public sector carries a degree of political exposure. These risks range from investing in goals that may not be realized in an election cycle, to drawing increased scrutiny to failing programs, to disrupting the long-standing assumptions and interests of vested stakeholders.

Implementing new policy and systems change requires leadership and vision, but it does not require breaking new ground. As detailed in *Funding for Results*, political leaders around the world have already used outcomes-focused public funding to drive impact and cultivate bipartisan support. Below are five steps political leaders can take to begin to rally support for systems change:

Change the budget dialogue. A focus on outcomes means accepting that what works
may not fit long-held assumptions, practices, or beliefs. Leadership needs to provide the
flexibility to find, expand, and iterate on the best policies. This means moving beyond
the polarizing political rhetoric currently associated with public funding to more
productive, budget-oriented conversations about data, evidence, and what works.

For instance, federal funding to local law enforcement, such as the Edward Byrne Memorial Justice Assistance Grant (JAG) program,<sup>22</sup> financially rewards localities for higher numbers of arrests and harsher sentencing, regardless of whether these actions lead to a reduction in violent crime.<sup>23</sup> Intended to reduce crime rates, these funding programs have indirectly led to disproportionately unequal and racially skewed arrests since the 1970s.<sup>24</sup> If funding is not producing the right outcomes, government must have the courage to assess and discuss what the right incentives are and reorient budgets accordingly.

Identify and address root causes. Political cycles and pressing public demands incentivize a focus on policy solutions with foreseeable outcomes and easy wins. As a result, problems that are easily solvable, measurable, and politically salient receive the bulk of political attention. To date, outcomes-focused financing tools and payment incentives

have similarly directed policymakers' attention toward projects with more visible, immediate returns.<sup>25</sup>

While addressing short-term needs and problems with clear solutions is necessary, government must also tackle the root causes of society's greatest challenges, whether or not they have easy answers. Root causes are hard to identify and hard to remedy. This often means solutions must aim for more long-term or intangible results. Researchers have found, for instance, that receiving Medicaid as a child substantially increases the likelihood a person will graduate from high school and complete college. While there may be a clear link between childhood wellness and educational success, these outcomes are rarely measured together. Instead, policymakers tend to quantify childhood health indicators, but rarely quantify or measure such outcomes as workforce productivity gains. Yet, these benefits produce untold social value and profound impact on individual lives across the country.

• Find a government champion. Leaders must create the enabling political and policy environment to make change feasible within legislative and agency contexts. This includes identifying leaders in federal agencies and local and state governments who can champion outcomes-focused funding and broker structural challenges associated with budgeting and procurement processes. <sup>27</sup> In addition to political concerns, government leaders need to appeal to social service providers and stakeholders who may similarly block change if their members fear outcomes-focused policies will be used to advance budget cuts. <sup>28</sup>

A government champion who is introducing outcomes-focused initiatives and has bridged bipartisan concerns at the local level is Ben McAdams, Mayor of Salt Lake County, Utah. In 2013, Mayor McAdams helped launch the Utah High Quality Preschool Program, a county-level Pay for Success program to expand high-quality preschool programs for low-income children.<sup>29</sup> Evidence suggests that government could save \$7 for every \$1 invested in education-readiness programs for disadvantaged children.<sup>30</sup> By convincingly demonstrating that the initiative could both save money and improve childhood outcomes, McAdams rallied members of each political party behind the need to invest in early childhood programs.

Plan for sustainability. For long-term success, outcomes-focused funding needs to
outlive political and personnel changes. Outcomes-focused policy must become part of
the fabric of the way government does business, from government operations to
procurement and budgeting processes.

One area where the spirit of outcomes-focused governing has become routine is performance-based budgeting. Performance-based budgeting requires governments or agencies to evaluate and prioritize policy goals with each budget cycle. State law in Minnesota, for instance, requires agencies to report spending based on performance

metrics. Although this process has been inconsistently applied, the state's budget operations director noted that performance-based budgeting has begun to produce a management mentality more closely aligned with seeking outcomes, from the "governor on down." At least eleven states have similarly implemented performance budgeting processes. Cumulatively, reforms in these states have reevaluated the effectiveness of \$80 million of public spending, with anticipated returns of \$38 in net benefits for every \$1 invested.<sup>31</sup>

Acknowledge potential opposition. Systems change disrupts vested interests and
presents challenges to stakeholders accustomed to traditional processes. Outcomesfocused reform also has the potential to create opposition among small providers who
may rightly believe that money will be reallocated to larger, national providers. Political

BOX 2

### NYC Juvenile Justice Reform—Part I

## Bringing Parties to the Table: Juvenile Justice Reform in New York City

In 2006, the New York City Office of the Criminal Justice Coordinator (CJC) convened a diverse group of stakeholders to discuss reforming the city's juvenile justice system. Key leaders from the city's Department of Probation, the Law Department, the Police Department, the judiciary, the Department of Education, and what was then the Department of Juvenile Justice and the Administration for Children's Services met to develop a coordinated reform agenda that would reevaluate how the city handled juveniles moving through the justice system, with the goal of achieving better overall outcomes for youths and communities.

Together with the Vera Institute of Justice, the committee developed a risk-assessment instrument to help officials make better decisions about juvenile detention. It additionally implemented an Alternative-to-Detention program for low-risk youth offenders. Using a standardized risk-assessment tool across agencies allows partners in the system to test assumptions about what leads to rearrests. Agencies can use these resources to get better outcomes across both high-risk and low-risk offenders, cutting in half the rate at which juveniles are rearrested.<sup>33</sup>

These reforms required new cooperation and coordination across city agencies as well as a mindset

change about the purpose of juvenile justice.<sup>34</sup> The Vera Institute identified four of the city's actions as key to achieving buy-in from stakeholders:

- The CJC continued to convene the initial stakeholder group on a regular basis after initiating reform to increase information sharing and guide implementation.
- Local teams of frontline workers reported back to the stakeholder group on a quarterly basis, allowing for collaborative problem solving and continual assessment of success.
- 3. The Vera Institute held workshops for city officials as well as forums for wider audiences to address concerns and questions about the reforms.
- 4. The city met monthly with a working group of service providers to solicit input, increase communication, and standardize quality of service provision.

Deliberate steps to engage and communicate with key stakeholders helped New York City successfully adopt a new mindset for juvenile justice that has altered assumptions about at-risk youth and improved outcomes for families. leaders can build buy-in among stakeholders and ease transitions by facilitating interactions between a diversity of providers and groups. For example, regular meetings and cross-agency collaboration was a key pillar of New York City's successful reform of its juvenile justice program (see Box 2). Leadership should emphasize that, if done right, outcomes-focused funding gives providers needed flexibility to focus on outcomes and service provision. There also are additional institutional barriers to change, including built-in incentives to shift costs and populations onto other departments.<sup>32</sup> Constructing a public dialogue, highlighting shared goals, and developing capacity can help create tipping points that invest all parts of the ecosystem in the game.

### **Developing the Supporting Infrastructures**

Fostering a new mindset and favorable political climate for outcomes-focused policy is crucially important for success, but these are only two of the preconditions needed to build a smarter government. True change requires robust investments in new government infrastructure that institutionalizes and operationalizes an outcomes-focused approach.

An outcomes-focused system requires government-led adoption of infrastructure for three key areas:

- Data and Evidence. Government needs to create a data infrastructure with the technology to effectively collect, manage, and analyze both quantitative and qualitative data and to develop knowledge about evidence and impact.
- Knowledge Sharing. Government needs to construct new ways to evaluate and share
  policy, data, and evidence through a knowledge-sharing network. Government can
  adopt the best knowledge-sharing practices from the private sector while remaining
  true to its public mission.
- Human Capital. Government needs to make critical investments in human infrastructure
  to design and lead new departments, revise existing administrative practices and
  procedures, and translate data and evidence into policy decisions.

While the initial investment required to build these infrastructures is substantial, the upfront cost will more than pay for itself through realized savings in the long term.<sup>35</sup> Across the private sector, successful companies in technology, finance, and consumer industries already understand that paying for good information is well worth the money: investments in technology, infrastructure, and access to data help companies make more informed decisions and gain a competitive edge. Government can learn from these lessons and models to create the infrastructure needed to drive a smarter government focused on results.

#### Data and Evidence Infrastructure

There is no shortage of data in today's world, but that does not mean all data is good data. Government at all levels has a critical need for new infrastructure to collect and circulate better data and evidence. This requires a shared definition of what is meant by data and

### Defining Data and Evidence

Assembling and using data more effectively requires a broader conversation about how government defines data and evidence, and how this understanding relates to other definitions, including those used by providers and the private sector. While these two terms are often used interchangeably, data and evidence can have very different meanings across sectors, and even across governments. How data and evidence are defined has significant consequences for program evaluations and policy decisions.

For the purposes of this paper, data is defined as the broadest category of information available, whether or not this information is used to demonstrate impact. Data can be both qualitative or quantitative. Employee performance reports, the number of people served by a program, and academic studies about interventions and policy are all very different, but equally important, types of data. Evidence refers to a very specific category of data. Evidence here is defined as the positive results from evaluations or assessments that prove the level of impact of a policy or program.

evidence and an infrastructure to help establish knowledge about impact. Governments need data and evidence to effectively evaluate programs and providers and to learn from and improve performance in real time. To collect the right data, government needs to know what problem a policy is trying to solve, what outcomes and metrics would demonstrate success, and what data is needed to assess whether outcomes were achieved.

Consider how government might measure the outcomes of a hypothetical employment services program. The ultimate goal of a job placement program is to help people find and retain stable employment. In the current system, government might track such data as the number of people participating in the program or how and what types of services were provided to jobseekers. While this is important data, it does mirror the types of more outcomes-focused metrics that could indicate which types of jobseekers are placed in jobs more easily, which training approaches are more effective for which populations, and which providers are delivering the best quality of service. To meet outcomes-oriented metrics providers might instead track such data as successful job applicants' compensation, whether they obtained work in the field in which they were trained, and how long they retained their positions. These types of data help policymakers understand how social factors are connected and which incentives lead providers to produce the best outcomes. More importantly, collecting outcomes-focused data helps build evidence about which policies and models work consistently in and across populations.

Collecting outcomes-focused data requires government to continually monitor baselines, interim measures, and longitudinal data points to assess how social policies are performing over time. This requires creating data collection practices, tools, and systems across government, not just to understand what programs are effective, but also to make informed and timely judgments about how and when programs are working.

For instance, evaluating how a given social policy or program responds to changing economic conditions, demographics, and human behavior requires both historical and current data to avoid unfairly penalizing providers. When the Australian government reformed its job services program beginning in 1998, policymakers institutionalized mechanisms to analyze and adjust performance measures in response to changes in the economy and participant demographics. This adjustment helped level the playing field for successful providers facing uncontrollable fluctuations in outcomes reporting due to national or regional trends beyond their control. In a flexible, data-driven system, policymakers can adjust and iterate on outcomes-focused payments, incentives, and intervention approaches as they learn more about what works and what does not in real time.

Smarter government needs to rely on smarter approaches to sharing, interpreting, and acting on both new and existing data. To establish a robust system for tracking outcomes across government and responsibly drawing conclusions about evidence and impact, government should start with five essential steps:

- Expand government understanding of evidence. What "counts" as evidence is a crucial—and crucially difficult—question. The public sector is in need of a much more robust conversation about how to measure, collect, and think about data (both qualitative and quantitative) to demonstrate evidence in outcomes-focused models. The current conversation around outcomes-focused policymaking largely prioritizes rigorous evidence as the only acceptable proof of impact, but rigorous evidence may not always be available or feasible. An outcomes-focused government may need to accept a spectrum of data and evidence from early- to late-stage knowledge as well as a range of methodologies to measure results.<sup>37</sup> Additionally, if government is to promote continuous learning and innovation, it needs to more regularly ask whether the data used for evidence is reliable, high quality, and current, and what range of data and what types of data can help government better understand impact.
- Build expertise within government and through partnerships. Setting the right metrics and gathering the right data to produce evidence requires expertise and vigilance. Data can tell whatever story you want it to tell. Poor data collection practices can produce perverse incentives, false indicators, and selection bias. To help avoid these pitfalls, government needs to rely on expertise that is not necessarily available in existing government institutions. Governments should work to build this capacity where it does not already exist and collaborate with third-party partners, such as research organizations, consultants, and academics, to help support initial and ongoing practices of evidence gathering, management, and analysis. One example of an existing partnership between academia and policymakers is the Massive Data Institute at Georgetown University's McCourt School of Public Policy. Founded in October 2013, the Institute brings together scientists and policy practitioners to transform the extensive amount of data from across government agencies into actionable information for policy decision making in such areas as education, health, and poverty.<sup>38</sup>

- Create a diverse data marketplace for better outcomes. Social policies often cut across sectors and agencies, and when they do, complementary data may be available from different sources. In many cases, related and essential data is tracked across different governments, departments, agencies, and organizations. Where possible, government should compile a diversity of data on any given policy or program to help draw holistic conclusions about impact and outcomes. Data from diverse sources helps government by providing a more complete picture of whether outcomes are being achieved across social indicators and whether flaws might be present in other existing data. While sharing existing data sounds easy in principle, in practice it requires significant investment. A necessary, but not sufficient, first step would be to make all data and evidence about policy available through some form of a "digital filing cabinet." The U.S. Department of Education and the National Science Foundation, for example, have started this process by establishing common guidelines for each type of research study with the intention of increasing data sharing across agencies and helping each agency make more informed decisions on research investments.<sup>39</sup>
- Develop standardized practices for data and evidence collection. Policymakers cannot make better decisions without access to readily available, and readily comparable, data and evidence. This requires standardization. Wherever possible, government should connect, standardize, and itemize data and evidence in centralized clearinghouses. This allows for data and evidence to be usable across diverse sources and supports governments and providers that cannot or have not developed a robust capacity for analyzing data. Although it is not always possible for local, state, and national agencies to coordinate their data, the importance of being able to compare a variety of departmental data cannot be overestimated for the long-term success of outcomes-focused policy. This is especially clear in the case of New York City's efforts to reform its juvenile justice system, where standardizing data across city agencies was essential to reaching better outcomes for youth (see Box 3).

Imagine how much more effectively government could evaluate policy outcomes if even 25 to 30 locations across the country, teamed with a group of experts in data analysis, started participating in organized repositories of outcomes on social issues. One state leading the way on data integration is Arkansas. In 2008, with the help of a grant from the Institute for Education Sciences' National Center for Education Statistics, the state established the Arkansas Research Center (ARC). ARC collects statewide longitudinal data on students from preschool to graduation so that parents, teachers, school administrators, and state human services agencies can compare year-by-year changes, assess where schools are succeeding or falling behind, and implement new policy to improve educational and life outcomes for Arkansas's youth.<sup>40</sup>

### NYC Juvenile Justice Reform—Part II

## Uniting Partners and Data Sets: How NYC Used Common Metrics To Improve Outcomes in Juvenile Justice

Linda Gibbs, Former NYC Deputy Mayor of Health and Human Services

Before New York City began the successful reform of its juvenile justice program in 2006 (see Box 2), the city faced significant challenges in finding a common baseline for measuring youth outcomes and increasing communication among nonprofits and city and state departments.

My weekly meetings with what was then the Department of Juvenile Justice had become a game of brinksmanship over whether we had enough capacity to make it through the week and meet demands for the number of new placements entering juvenile detention. I was insistent on finding better alternatives to our existing system, which made the Commissioner of Juvenile Justice nervous. He had no control over the other parts of the justice system, and "reform" meant he would need to ensure he could handle the consequences of other agencies' behaviors.

When I suggested bringing everyone together to address problems collectively, his response was, "Good luck!"

To give some perspective on the problem, a single young person moving through the juvenile justice system in New York City typically interacts with six different public agencies under three independent branches of government—the city, the state, and the courts. Good luck, indeed!

Undaunted, that is exactly what we did. We worked to build a shared vision of what we were trying to achieve for young people. Aside from the hard work of establishing a shared vision, the work of creating a common data set was enormous. We started by setting a standing, biweekly meeting with all stakeholders. At the beginning of each meeting,

I asked everyone to bring the data they used to measure workload and dispositions. We started by sharing and figuring out what each one of us knew, and, as each agency presented in turn, we tried to create a sense of shared process.

The discrepancies and mismatches between systems quickly became obvious. Each agency had a different data definition: some counted events, others tracked people, and others counted units of service. We could not even answer simple questions about what happened to youth when they were convicted of crimes as juveniles. A challenge? Certainly. But with a shared vision focused on avoiding placements and improving youth outcomes, the different parties eventually realized that they needed to make changes to achieve these goals.

We created workgroups to develop a common set of data points and definitions and shared what we found with each other. Gradually, everyone began to work together to develop a shared data set that allowed us to know what was happening to young people as they moved through the system.

Making all the partner data talk effectively to each other was hard work, but essential to the reform. In fact, it accelerated reform—getting us to a better system with better results, faster. Our efforts, along with investment and parallel reform efforts, contributed to a 60 percent decline in juvenile placement and a 35 percent decline in juvenile detention. Establishing common metrics helped the individual partners see themselves not as independent entities but rather as highly interdependent actors whose behaviors had significant consequences for each other.

Protect data privacy. Addressing issues around data privacy is crucially important.
 Across all levels of government, the collection, analysis, and storage of user-level data should prioritize privacy while simultaneously allowing government and providers to learn from user experience at the individual and aggregate level. Communities, privacy advocates, and policymakers should have a more open dialogue on the difficult questions around how to balance the need for personal data to achieve better outcomes with the need to protect individual privacy.

A good example of the importance of user-level data, as well as its dangers, concerns longitudinal information collected on children. To assess whether high-quality preschool is effective and a good, long-term preventive intervention for at-risk children, governments need to track personal data across agencies for years at a time. In this case, the data must track how individual children fared in school relative to their peers, whether they entered the juvenile justice system, and ideally, their life trajectory after exiting the school system. Government and stakeholders need to address parents' and child advocates' reasonable concerns about the privacy of children's data while still finding ways to use data to help people succeed.

### **Knowledge-Sharing Infrastructure**

To translate data into action, governments need a robust knowledge-sharing infrastructure to help both agencies and service providers make smarter decisions and reach better outcomes together. A knowledge-sharing infrastructure can turn data and evidence into shared indicators, analysis, rapid learning, and evaluation. Connecting these evidentiary dots with findings from academics and field researchers helps policymakers construct a stronger knowledge base about what policies work, under what circumstances, for which populations, and why effective policies work. The knowledge building needed for smarter, outcomes-focused government cannot happen in silos. Lessons learned need to be actively collected, shared, and distributed across all levels of government and service providers.

An effective knowledge-sharing infrastructure requires transparent, meaningful, and timely reporting on program results as well as mechanisms for policymakers to access and actively learn from this knowledge. Creating an infrastructure for effective knowledge sharing begins with four action steps:

• Develop a public knowledge network. An open and transparent knowledge network allows providers and government to quickly assess what has and has not worked in the past and why. Government can increase the transparency of programmatic and evaluative data by regularly and publicly disseminating evidence about successful interventions and practices funded through public dollars. A public knowledge network should share information on which providers and policies are succeeding, in which contexts, and provide analyses of the core principles responsible for achieving those successful outcomes. Access to evaluations of effective policies not only helps providers and

government learn from existing models, but also levels the playing field among organizations with varying data collection capabilities. Public dissemination of evaluations also helps raise decision makers' confidence in the potential of outcomes-focused policies.

While government should establish its own knowledge networks, cross-sector partner-ships can also generate effective public knowledge networks. One example of such a partnership is the City Initiatives for Technology, Innovation, and Entrepreneurship (CITIE), a framework and diagnostic tool that lets cities around the world assess how they perform against other cities on key policy levers found to effectively encourage innovation and entrepreneurship. The CITIE framework groups participating cities into policy clusters depending on their different approaches to the same policy objectives, allowing them to compare their efforts. As the Chief Information Officer for the City of Melbourne summarized, "We are moving from organized stockpiles of knowledge to participating in active flows of knowledge. So understanding what those flows are and how you can tap into them is becoming increasingly important."

- Encourage active learning. Government needs to promote a culture of active learning across the public sector. There is not yet enough knowledge among policymakers and providers about what works across social services, or even sufficient baseline assessments across programs, because the current system is not set up to track data related to outcomes, much less pull knowledge from this data or create feedback loops when new data exists. To increase learning about what works, governments and stakeholders need to actively pursue new interventions, purposely build knowledge from these efforts, and communicate regularly. When Tennessee reformed its foster care system in 2006, the Department of Children's Services held weekly calls with providers so that all parties could learn and adjust to the new system on a real-time basis. This weekly check-in process helped the state actively learn during the implementation of the new performance-based contracting system, allowing policymakers to remedy perverse incentives and develop better metrics for outcomes on an ongoing basis.<sup>44</sup>
- Use field scans. The administrative infrastructure for funding and evaluation should
  allow government to detect both positive and negative anomalies when conducting field
  scans of existing programs, policies, and pilots. Analysts need to track and identify
  success indicators not only across entire policy areas, but also on the level of individual
  programs. If administrators detect an outlier with a positive impact, existing mechanisms
  should help assess whether the success can be scaled across larger systems.

To illustrate this process, consider a high school where one teacher's students graduate at higher rates and achieve better test scores than the rest of the student population. An ideal outcomes-focused system with a robust knowledge-sharing infrastructure should help policymakers determine whether these results are due to a replicable process, such as curriculum design, or whether they are the result of a non-scalable factor, such as an exceptional teacher.

Institutionalize knowledge sharing within and across governments. Knowledge sharing within government is critical for the long-term success of outcomes-focused policy. Government needs to move from sharing mostly within departments and agencies to a more collaborative system that shares knowledge across government. Currently, government agencies at all levels lack mechanisms and incentives for knowledge sharing. This leads to duplicative processes in which various agencies overserve the needs of some populations and underserve others through overlapping policies. While government has begun to institutionalize the sharing of data, evaluations, and programmatic reports, incentivizing knowledge gathering and making existing data more broadly available needs additional investment. A systematic approach to knowledge sharing requires government to turn programmatic reports and data into analysis that helps guide decision making, a process which may require developing cross-sector partnerships and adopting new technological infrastructure (see Box 4).

BOX 4

## Using Data to Build Policy Knowledge:

### Predictive Analytics and Algorhythm

Algorhythm is a start-up seeking to help governments think more deeply about outcomes-focused policy decisions through real-time impact assessment tools. The company developed software to help governments and policymakers make better decisions about policies by evaluating what results the policy achieved, how the policy affected specific populations, how well the policy met its intended outcomes, and then predicting the probability of future outcomes. 45 So far, the software has helped New York City more effectively evaluate its after-school programs, the antihunger nonprofit Feeding America make smarter grants, and the state of Florida reduce juvenile recidivism. 46 In Florida, the model (which is still in testing) is being used to improve and refine current risk assessment methods for juvenile justice, such as the one used in New York City (see Box 2 and 3).47

Algorhythm relies on an increasingly popular program evaluation method known as "predictive analytics." Predictive analytics includes a wide range of methods with potentially profound implications for policymaking. These methods are unique from other program evaluations in that they rely on existing data to anticipate outcomes: for instance, which demographics will benefit the most from interventions and what factors might drive participation in programs. This approach has significant implications for assessing whether a policy is likely to work in a new neighborhood, as well as figuring out what prompts and services might work best for citizens entering or exiting social programs.<sup>48</sup>

### **Human Capital**

The success of outcomes-focused policy ultimately hinges on government's ability to strengthen human capital and shift mindsets within its ranks. A smarter, outcomes-focused government that makes the best use of data, evidence, and knowledge infrastructures fundamentally requires parallel investments in human infrastructure. Government needs fresh models for partnerships and collaboration and dedicated human capital to manage new funding, evaluation, data, and administrative mechanisms. Human infrastructure and personnel buy-in is also critical for developing meaningful, interagency, and cross-sector partnerships. The human infrastructure piece is so intimately tied to changing how government operates that many of the implications for human capital have already been introduced with the discussion of other recommendations, especially within the context of building the "Data and Evidence Infrastructure."

However, to intentionally begin to expand human infrastructure, government can take additional, proactive actions. For instance, to initiate the process of change, each level of government should create a unit devoted to implementing the administrative components of outcomes-focused policy. Government agencies and departments need new procurement practices and contracting systems responsive to outcomes-focused processes, and need these units to develop best practices and train personnel. Service providers and nonprofits likewise need to gradually build human infrastructure to adjust to new systems of funding and evaluation and orient programs to outcomes metrics, in the same way that Youth Villages has done to better serve vulnerable youth in Tennessee (see Box 5).

Restructuring, retraining, and supplementing existing human infrastructure within government will take time, and continuous improvement and active learning is essential to this transition. As recommended in *Funding for Results*, governments should allow enough administrative flexibility to let new processes and mechanisms evolve over time with lessons learned. In addition to previously discussed reforms, government must also begin thinking about and investing in two essential human infrastructure competencies to make a transition to outcomes-focused funding feasible:

• Support gradual changes in provider infrastructure. Change to a new mindset and way of operating does not need to happen all at once, and nor should it. However, government should accelerate change where the possibilities exist, especially through financial incentives. Contracts that tie a portion of payments to outcomes can begin the process of meaningfully measuring results, while also allowing both providers and governments to learn from change in real time. This stepped approach gives providers more flexibility to meet goals and priorities, while also spurring some providers to shift the way they manage operations. Governments must offer clear and transparent calculations for incentive payments and performance funding to assist providers in navigating this transition. As more outcomes-focused funding models are tested, it will become easier for policymakers to assess the most effective ratio of up-front to performance payments.

Social service providers, too, will gradually identify the most appropriate ways to train and credential managerial and accounting staff for outcomes-focused service provision. Transitioning to outcomes payments can lead to dramatic changes in infrastructure and mindsets across stakeholders. These transformations ultimately yield better results for government, providers, and citizens alike. For more examples of how governments have implemented outcomes-focused payment structures over time, see the Beeck Center's report, *Funding for Results*.

• Shift government contracts and training to fund for outcomes. Outcomes-focused financing requires new forms of contracts and grant agreements with built-in metrics and contingency clauses. Policymakers need to be mindful that this new approach demands adjustments to existing procurement practices, as well as the retraining and hiring of personnel to design and manage these new practices. There are at least three areas where reform is essential. First, government needs staff able to carefully choose performance metrics, as these drive incentives and determine results. Second, funding

BOX 5

## Building Capacity Through Shared Mission: Youth Villages' YVLifeSet

Youth Villages is a Tennessee-based nonprofit that runs community-based programs for 22,000 at-risk youth and families across 12 states. <sup>50</sup> Youth Villages has been able to grow its capacity and serve diverse groups of youth and families through an organizational emphasis on shared philosophies, common core principles, and fidelity to a model that prioritizes developing family support and long-term holistic care. <sup>51</sup> An equally crucial, yet sometimes overlooked, component of Youth Villages' success is a results-oriented approach that emphasizes continually collecting and sharing best-practice knowledge.

One of Youth Villages' programs, YVLifeSet, has experienced a great deal of success. This transitional living program has successfully boosted its participants' earnings by 17 percent, decreased the likelihood of homelessness by 22 percent, 52 and promoted a host of other positive life indicators, including stable living conditions and higher rates of

employment and graduation.53 Youth Villages' success largely depends on two key principles related to shared knowledge and evaluation. First, Youth Villages emphasizes outcomes-driven programmatic change by actively tracking trends in its youth population both during and after receiving services, and adjusting its approach accordingly. Second, Youth Villages promotes consistency across its youth interventions through shared learning in the form of a treatment manual containing approved, evidence-informed techniques for youth engagement, as well as regular, regional clinical supervision to ensure that providers implement treatments appropriately.54 The sharing of best approaches and related evidence, coupled with an institutional culture focused on outcomes, has made it possible for Youth Villages to provide consistent service across youth populations in diverse demographic, cultural, and economic contexts.

agreements need to include the flexibility for government personnel to make adjustments when established performance metrics and incentives are misaligned or unfair to providers. Third, new contractual procedures will require government at all levels to adjust the training and oversight of procurement, grant, and contract management staff. Other adjustments might include new tools for oversight, new methods of brokering and facilitating agreements, sharing of best practices, new audit and reporting requirements, and considerations for how savings are distributed across different agencies and levels of government.

### **Building an Outcomes Marketplace**

When policymakers reward innovation by aligning clear goals with the financial incentives to achieve them, providers are given the flexibility to find new and creative solutions to problems over time. Funding in social services does not currently open the door to innovation, but government funding in other policy areas has been driving innovation for decades. Public funding fueled some of the greatest achievements of the twentieth century, including essential innovations in railroads, the Internet, life-altering pharmaceuticals, and nanotechnology. A National Science Foundation grant funded the algorithm that launched Google's success. None of these achievements would have been possible without targeted government funding to encourage risk and research in areas business and the market were initially unwilling to assume. Investment in our social programs should be no different. Government should actively push outcomes-focused funding to drive innovations and improvements in social services by defining goals, providing real financial and administrative rewards, and allowing providers to deliver services in more effective ways that make sense for the populations they serve.

Directing funding to spur innovation is only the first step. Policymakers also need to institutionalize mechanisms for the adoption and routinization of the most successful models and ideas produced through outcomes-focused public spending. This will require government to continually assess data for evidence that financial incentives are aligned with intended outcomes, and make adjustments accordingly. With new and careful management of financial and institutional incentives, government can establish a "funding pipeline" that drives and rewards a marketplace of ideas for social services and helps government and providers develop innovative ways to deliver better social outcomes at better price points.

If government is to operationalize outcomes-focused funding to drive innovation, it must commit to two key practices:

1. Fund for Innovation and Outcomes. Outcomes-focused funding should comprise a larger portion of government spending on social services. While there are many potential models to transition spending within individual agency and government contexts, policymakers should work to build a funding system that fosters a competitive marketplace for innovation. The section that follows provides one example of how an agency could fund and transition successful pilots to larger pools of public spending.

**2. Promote and Support Providers.** As government realigns spending and financial incentives, it should consider how to incubate and best support a diverse market of providers to widen the door to innovation and new social service models.

#### **Fund for Innovation and Outcomes**

To fund for innovation and outcomes, government and stakeholders must be administratively and politically prepared for change. Over time, government should dedicate larger and larger portions of public funding to outcomes-based agreements. There are potentially many different funding structures for outcomes-focused policy, but traditional procurement policy limits these possibilities. Government needs to change the way procurement works in social services. One possible way to structure public funding for outcomes-focused interventions—discussed below—envisions a "pipeline" that uses discretionary money to fund pilots and move the most successful policies to larger funding pools. Another example of reform on the local government level is an effort in Salt Lake County, Utah to consolidate federal Community Development Block Grants to more effectively fund solutions across municipal boundaries (see Box 6).

While the funding pipeline proposed below is only one possible model, the important point is that policymakers need to start thinking about and developing public spending models that can fund outcomes-driven demonstration pilots and scale successful lessons to improve social service policies. Regardless of whether funding reform occurs through statutory authority, matching funding with state and local dollars, or some other mechanism, policymakers and public sector leaders need to explore new ways to move beyond current investments in outcomes-focused pilots and Pay for Success (PFS) initiatives. While these initiatives, including Innovation Funds, PFS pilots, the Performance Partnership Pilots (P3), and measures in the Workforce Innovation and Opportunity Act (WIOA), are a critical first step, more substantial, sustainable budgetary commitments will be needed from government and the private sector alike to truly move the needle toward smarter government.

Government, philanthropy, and the private sector should also work together to foster a market of providers and governments willing to embrace outcomes-focused pilots prior to implementing a pipeline. Stakeholders can begin to seed the market in two ways:

- Provide incentives for governments and providers to get in the outcomes business.
   Government can subsidize the strategies and systems needed to develop outcomes-focused solutions. Incubators, competitions, prizes, and challenges all encourage new and diverse providers to begin to develop capacity. These mechanisms also allow government and providers alike to test outcomes-focused strategies in a low-risk environment.
- Create competitive funding pools for pilot models. A competitive funding pool dedicated
  to financing demonstration pilots, testing new models, and gathering knowledge should
  be created to nurture promising innovative pilot interventions and policy ideas that are

untested, or that lack a body of research, existing knowledge, or evidence. Information from well-designed models and evaluations can be used to inform future policy iterations for service providers, and the recontracting process can help both governments and providers continuously improve from each round of trials. Government investment in social service activity should also be accompanied by philanthropic and private sector involvement. A diverse pool of investment dollars is necessary to innovate policies with the potential to transform social service delivery.

## A funding pipeline model to test and scale successful pilots

The accompanying illustration provides an outline of a possible funding model to scale up successful pilot approaches to state- and national-level spending, but government itself also needs to innovate procurement and funding practices over time through three key actions:

- 1. Move successful pilots through the pipeline. In the funding pipeline, programs and policy models become eligible for a larger portion of dedicated public spending as confidence grows about the ability of a specific approach to achieve its intended outcomes. Spending could be broken into tiered funding pools specifically designed to develop, scale, and refine outcomesfocused interventions, depending on the number of trials or the level of available evidence. This type of funding is already happening at the federal level through such initiatives as the Investing in Innovation Fund (i3) and the Social Innovation Fund. Philanthropy and private sector funders can partner with government at this stage to match funding and help create more transparent data analysis and knowledge sharing on what works.
- 2. Integrate proven interventions into agency funding. As new models and approaches are funneled through the pipeline by consistently achieving outcomes they should have access to larger

- pools of federal spending in relevant agencies, such as formula funding. Through repeated testing and implementation, outcomes-focused interventions will start to be recognized as programmatic best practice. Individual agencies will need to assess standards and set performance benchmarks to determine when programs and policies are ready to move forward through the pipeline. Evidentiary benchmarks should be flexible enough to encourage a range of evidence and models, but specific enough to promote transparency, consistency, fairness, and longevity through changes in administrations.
- 3. Expand the pool of federal dollars dedicated to outcomes-focused policies. Government can increase its investment in outcomes-focused models as more suppliers enter the outcomes-focused funding market and provider capacity increases. As policymakers gain more insight into what types of policies work and what types do not, government can reallocate money from less effective models and policies to more effective ones. As return on investment is more reliably demonstrated, Congressional allocations and private-sector support for outcomes-focused financing tools such as PFS should increase.

вох 6

# Salt Lake County, Utah: Streamlining Federal Dollars to Improve Local Outcomes

Jeremy Keele, Managing Director, Sorenson Center, University of Utah's David Eccles School of Business

Salt Lake County's efforts to restructure the way it allocates federal Community Development Block Grants (CDBG) is an example of how governments can start to shift formula funding to a more thoughtful, outcomes-based framework. In previous years, the cumbersome process of applying for federal funds from up to 11 different local jurisdictions ate up an enormous amount of time, with providers spending as much as five months a year filling out paperwork, attending public hearings, and crafting funding requests. In this fragmented system, CDBG funds were satisfying certain provider needs, but not moving the needle on big social problems in the community.

In 2014, Salt Lake County Mayor Ben McAdams decided it was time for a change. Under McAdams's leadership, the county worked with local elected officials to consolidate the various CDBG applications into a single, streamlined process that pooled their monies into one \$2.2 million fund that can be allocated to addressing systemic causes of the region's most pressing social problems.

As a result of these changes,

- Governments are talking to each other and meeting periodically to decide on the county's collective outcome targets;
- Governments can collectively pay for programs that would have been too expensive for any one jurisdiction to afford on its own;
- High-quality service providers can focus on achieving agreed-upon outcomes rather than juggling the administrative hurdles of multiple grants;
- Governments can more effectively measure and hold providers accountable for achieving policy priorities;
- Funding is going where it is most needed, regardless of jurisdictional boundaries.

Government officials and service providers in Salt Lake County have largely embraced these changes, which they believe are leading to greater efficiency and impact in their communities. While the funding changes only took effect July 1, 2015, the streamlined and unified application process has already revealed benefits for the citizens of Utah's most populous county. Grants within the county will help fund meaningful projects in high-need areas, including improved public facilities and services for low-income populations.

### **Promote and Support Providers**

In the early stage of implementing outcomes-focused funding models, policymakers must actively ensure that a diverse market of providers—from for-profit to nonprofit and local to national—experiment with models for better results. Innovation happens when ideas and participants are welcomed to the table. It does not happen when government narrows the roads to success and outcomes.

Government funding should support not only organizations with the resources to conduct rigorous evaluations, but also effective local providers who contribute much-needed knowledge, outreach, data, and relationships to social services. Funding for outcomes does not mean moving from a set of regulations on how to spend money to a new set of regulations on what types of providers or models constitute success. When government pays for outcomes, it uncovers new, different, and successful models precisely because it ceases to prescribe what a successful model should be. To open all roads to success, governments should consider two institutional measures to encourage the development of a diverse and innovative provider market supported by an existing ecosystem of outcomes-focused stakeholders:

- Balance provider risk. Change always creates risk. Shifting to outcomes-focused funding may carry financial and organizational risks that discourage potential service providers from entering the market. To help willing providers adjust to change, the initial risk barriers for participation in outcomes-focused funding need to be low enough to allow a range of providers with varying capacities to enter the market. If the percentage of funding tied to performance measures is too high or calculated using limited metrics, these barriers may dissuade the entry of new providers and cause government to lose out on creative solutions. Policymakers need to assess and iterate on the right funding ratio over time, so that providers are placed on a gradual risk curve. Additional challenges, suggestions, and examples about how to implement payment risk over time are presented in Funding for Results.<sup>58</sup>
- Manage for a diverse market of providers and approaches. The public sector market,
  like all markets, requires competition to drive innovation and keep costs low. The
  outcomes-focused marketplace must therefore be accessible to service providers of all
  shapes and sizes. This may require policymakers to distinguish between scalable
  models, such as home visits for low-income mothers, and scalable policy approaches,
  such as targeted interventions for youth in specific neighborhoods.

Governments need both scalable models and local solutions. Both are essential for solving our greatest challenges. And both require new administrative and financial flexibility. Government can support a range of approaches, intermediaries, and providers by setting benchmarks that allow individual providers to craft unique implementation plans matching diverse populations and capacities. The State of Maryland, for instance, was able to reform its foster care system by articulating clear goals, setting benchmarks, and communicating these to providers (see Box 7). Increased flexibility also allows

## **Using Evidence to Improve Outcomes:**

# How the State of Maryland Reformed its Foster Care System to Get Better Results for Youth

Justin Milner, Senior Research Associate, Urban Institute

In 2007, the Maryland foster care system was failing to achieve the best outcomes for its children. Over 10,000 Maryland youth were in the foster care system, and 2,000 of those children were living in group homes. In the City of Baltimore alone, the number of children in foster care was three times the national average for similar cities. Such high populations reflected key structural weaknesses in the state's foster care system, including an overall lack of data analysis, outdated child welfare practices, and poor contracting conventions for group homes.

In response, Maryland created the "Place Matters" initiative. To get to better outcomes for kids, Place Matters focuses on fundamental goals driven by a need for research, evaluation, and new benchmarks:

- Articulate core values. Under the leadership of Secretary Brenda Donald, Maryland's Department of Human Resources (DHR) worked to instill a new set of guiding principles for DHR staff, focused on placing children in the most appropriate, least restrictive, and closest setting to their original home, while minimizing length of stay in the foster care system.
- Improve data collection and analysis. Under Place Matters, DHR started to track child welfare progress in six key areas, including the number of children in foster care, the number of new children entering foster care, and the number of children placed in group homes and familybased settings.

- Use research and best practices to drive service.
   With the support and partnership of a host of
   national and local experts, DHR worked to
   develop a family-focused case practice more
   likely to have better outcomes for children in care.
   In the new, family-centered model, families were
   invited to participate in the child welfare
   decision-making process.
- Reform provider practices to reflect goals. DHR
  leadership worked to obtain greater regulatory
  authority over group homes, with the ultimate
  goal of improving quality and restricting the use
  of congregate care. Leadership worked with
  group home providers to share the findings of
  new "report cards" on their performance and
  developed a competitive procurement process
  to select top-performing group home providers.

The child welfare picture in Maryland has dramatically improved since the start of the Place Matters initiative. The number of children in foster care has decreased by 50 percent since 2007. The use of group homes has also markedly declined. Of children entering care, 81 percent are now successfully placed with families, and there are currently fewer children in state foster care than at any time in the last 27 years. <sup>60</sup> Nationally, Maryland's state child welfare services ranking moved from 51st to 34th between 2006 and 2012. <sup>61</sup> Aligning service delivery with clear goals has moved the state of Maryland from a nationally underachieving foster care system to one that is united behind better outcomes for youth.

government to learn from and support providers who innovate outside the public funding system.

Today policymakers and political leaders have an unparalleled opportunity to fundamentally transform American government to an outcomes mindset that can leverage the best financial and technological resources available. To get there, all stakeholders will need to shift the way business is done in the social service sector. The public sector needs to think more deeply about the problems society is trying to solve. Government needs to reorient public policy away from decades of public funding inertia and a check-the-box mentality toward a dynamic new funding approach. Policymakers and political leaders need to embrace challenging agendas that strive toward long-term, hard-to-reach outcomes. And all stakeholders need to accept that solving our most intractable social challenges may also mean learning from failure on the road to innovative breakthroughs and smarter government.



## What's Next for Stakeholders

Creating a smarter, outcomes-focused government will be neither quick nor easy, and generating a new institutional mindset requires both political leadership and ground-level support. This paper has outlined steps governments can take toward one element of smarter government: reform of government decision making and funding policies to generate outcomes-focused and solutions-based change in social services.

The structure of public funding deeply informs how government thinks about, creates, and operates social policy. Change demands shifting not just procurement policy, but also an entire interdependent network of policymakers, governments, and stakeholders. While implementing systems change is a monumental task, governments, providers, and public sector leaders are already beginning to take some of the first steps to move government toward an outcomes mindset and new funding framework.

The following section provides a brief overview of some of the actions stakeholders—specifically, local government, state government, federal agencies, congress and legislatures, philanthropy and private sector partners, and providers—are taking today to move smarter government forward. It also provides some general guidance suggesting what might be next for these groups. Reform will almost certainly take longer than one political term to implement, but by working together and clearly articulating shared goals and outcomes, all of us can begin to plant the seeds for an indelible legacy of real impact.

#### **Local Government**

Local governments are uniquely situated to become hubs of policy innovation. Even without a national political push for outcomes-focused policy, cities, counties, and municipalities are turning necessity into ingenuity and finding opportunities to use philanthropic grants, data, and existing public support to drive better results. Below are only a few of the many ways innovative local governments have begun to drive change across the United States:

- Building public-private partnerships. Current philanthropic initiatives, such as the Pew-MacArthur Results First Initiative and Bloomberg Philanthropies' What Works Cities and Mayors Challenge, are helping cities solve local problems in unique ways through competitive grant programs.<sup>62</sup> To scale, magnify, and sustain these local initiatives, cities need additional philanthropic and private sector support at the municipal levels to establish data systems, collect evidence, generate analysis, and build human capacity.
- Making data local. Local governments from Baltimore to Boston are beginning to rely
  on data and smart technology, such as citizen engagement apps, to connect with
  citizens, pinpoint local problems, and find solutions. Philanthropic grants are being used
  to develop data dashboards for cities across the U.S., putting information at officials'

fingertips on topics as varied as zoning approval times, pet adoptions, restaurant inspections, and asthma attacks.<sup>63</sup>

• Starting small. Local governments looking to implement outcomes-focused policy for the first time should start by identifying policy areas with strong local partners, clear goals, and consensus on desired outcomes. In such policy areas as job placement programs, high school graduation rates, and asthma reduction, local governments can run initial trials to help build capacity within government and among providers. Once capacity is developed in a specific area, local policymakers can develop multiyear plans to roll out similar outcomes-focused policies to more and more areas of government.

#### State Government

Innovative state governments are critical if America is to move from a local to a national culture of results. States can be the key drivers of innovation in policy areas such as education, where 87.7 percent of every dollar spent comes from non-federal sources.<sup>64</sup> State-level innovation requires government to prioritize three steps:

- Developing data infrastructure. A critical first step toward smarter government is establishing statewide data systems that support evidence building and sharing across governments and departments. Some efforts have already started in specific intervention areas. For instance, the Early Childhood Data Collaborative has already met success working with 13 states to support the development of coordinated and high-quality data systems on early childhood and education. State governments can support oucomesfocused policy by nourishing and supplementing statewide data and knowledgesharing capacity and by incentivizing localities to similarly invest in data and evidence infrastructures.
- Leveraging existing funding. State governments can follow federal-level efforts to fund demonstration pilots and begin to build mechanisms to seed, evaluate, and vet these pilot initiatives. In fact, state government is a more effective vehicle to fund innovative programs at the local level, where there is the greatest potential to iterate on and learn from outcomes-focused policy. There are already federal programs, such as Pay for Performance provisions in the Workforce Innovation and Opportunity Act (WIOA), with outcomes-focused incentives that grant state and local governments substantial authority to implement Pay For Success (PFS) projects.
- Incentivizing innovation. Prizes and competitions are great incentives that can create
  momentum for local initiatives. State governments should run place-based competitions
  that provide funding to localities willing to implement outcomes-focused policies. Similar
  to the grants referenced above for city governments, competitive funding can give
  states and local government the initial money they need to build out infrastructure and
  develop incentives to make an outcomes-focused public sector market a reality.

### **Federal Agencies**

In addition to the recommendations presented throughout this paper, federal agencies should look for new opportunities to expand and develop an outcomes-focused culture in government and continue ongoing efforts in this direction. A number of federal agencies have already worked toward outcomes-focused initiatives by funding demonstration pilots and isolated intervention trials. However, there is much more to be done to make federal government policy more innovative and solutions-oriented. Some of the federal agencies that might be able to move further in this direction and expand on current efforts include the U.S. Departments of Housing and Urban Development, Health and Human Services (including the Children's Bureau), and Education. There are two additional areas where federal agencies could take further actions:

- Increasing investment in outcomes and pilots. Federal agencies need to institutionalize
  and reward a culture of results through targeted investments such as bundled state
  funds (where possible) that tie certain amounts of funding to requirements that providers
  and state governments increase transparent sharing and reporting of results. Even a
  small percentage of funding focused on outcomes can have a transformative impact
  and change the culture of the public sector.
- Improving digital platforms. Federal agencies can do more to facilitate digital sharing and communication both across agencies and with the public. For instance, a new U.S. Digital Service team, housed in U.S. Office of Management and Budget, will work to set universal standards for agencies' public digital offerings and interactions with businesses and individuals. By setting digital standards and implementing a process for assessment and improvement on these standards, the U.S. Digital Service seeks to help government scale the best digital platforms and enforce a high standard of accountability for online services, such as HealthCare.gov.<sup>66</sup>

## Congress and Legislatures

The U.S. Congress and state and local legislative bodies can take leadership in pushing for an outcomes-focused mindset. The U.S. Congress can encourage the development of outcomes-focused policies by continuing to advance certain types of bipartisan action and support:

Supporting ongoing legislative efforts. There is already pending legislation in the U.S.
Congress, such as the Evidence-Based Policymaking Commission Act, sponsored by
Representative Paul Ryan (R-WI 1) and Senator Patty Murray (D-WA), and the Social
Impact Partnership Act, sponsored by Senators Orrin Hatch (R-UT) and Michael Bennet
(D-CO) and Representatives Todd Young (R-IN 9) and John Delaney (D-MD 6). Continued
support for similar legislative efforts on both the national and state level is needed to
push policy changes forward.

- Granting agencies and departments administrative flexibility. A sustainable approach
  to outcomes-focused policy also requires state legislatures and the U.S. Congress to
  offer increased administrative flexibility for respective government departments.
  Legislative language and regulations need to be kept as simple and direct as possible to
  keep the focus on results rather than process.<sup>67</sup> These initiatives will only get better over
  time if legislatures provide opportunities for agencies to continuously improve and
  leverage data effectively.
- Funding more pilot initiatives. Elected officials should push forward more initiatives with the ability to find solutions at all levels. One example is the Performance Partnership Pilots (P3) program, a provision within the Consolidated Appropriations Act of 2014 that seeks to improve outcomes for disconnected youth. These Congressionally backed initiatives in federal funding, and additional measures at the state level, will help create a real marketplace of ideas and innovation that can find better, faster, and more effective solutions to our social problems.

## Philanthropy and Private Sector Partners

Funders have an important role to play in leading the shift to outcomes-focused policy. Now more than ever, the private and public sectors can work together to drive forward initiatives that deliver social impact with returns on investment through societal and financial savings. The transition to outcomes-focused initiatives carries a number of costs associated with systems change, which range from creating new administrative infrastructures to shifts in human capital. Philanthropy, corporate foundations, and the private sector are crucial supporters and partners who can drive a transformation toward smarter government in three key ways:

- Continuing to support PFS projects. Private capital is important for supporting broader outcomes-focused systems change, as there will always be a need for forward-thinking projects that carry too much risk for public sector investment, especially in an era of tightened government budgets. The private sector is already playing a role in this way by financing PFS projects. PFS uses public-private partnerships to help minimize government's financial risk in testing new outcomes-focused approaches. PFS is still in its very early stages, and continued support of these pilots is needed to test the impact and potential of this financing model. Private and philanthropic support for current projects is also increasing transparency in some government programs through PFS agreements that require clear reporting with stated risk and outcome measurements.
- Expanding and iterating on existing financing models. Philanthropic organizations have already taken the lead by investing in new, outcomes-focused investment models. The Kresge Foundation, for example, has invested \$3 million in a working-capital loan to the Colorado Coalition for the Homeless (CCH) to expand health and housing services to vulnerable populations in Denver, Colorado. The interest on the loan, which could

potentially drop to as little as 1 percent, is linked to CCH's ability to achieve outcomes on 10 metrics, setting a new precedent for how the private and nonprofit sector can pay for performance outside of the PFS financing model.<sup>69</sup> RE:focus Partners is similarly innovating on private sector financing mechanisms for social good. RE:focus—with Goldman Sachs, Swiss RE, and the Rockefeller Foundation—is exploring how to use modified catastrophe bonds and insurance to help cities pay for resiliency measures against natural disasters.<sup>70</sup> These are only two examples of potential cross-sector financing models that could help drive smarter and more outcomes-focused government.

- Funding for capacity. Support from philanthropy and the private sector is essential to help governments and providers develop the capacity to collect and manage data. The public sector must invest in ecosystem-wide data systems and the organizational infrastructures to manage them. In the short-term, philanthropy and the private sector can support investments that help governments and providers harness data and connect with tech innovators. For instance, many municipalities across the United States are working with social entrepreneurs to develop smartphone apps that let citizens file nonemergency requests to fix public spaces (for instance, potholes, broken streetlights, and downed trees). Apps such as SeeClickFix not only speed up municipal repair time for citizens, but also use citizens as tools to collect data and monitor city, county, and even statewide trends.<sup>71</sup> Investment from outside of government can drive progress and speed the implementation and development of these promising social ventures.
- Investing in longitudinal data. To support the long-term and forward-thinking mindset needed for smarter government, the public sector as a whole must understand more about longitudinal data and the long-term effects of policy. This type of data requires a substantial investment of time and capital. Private and philanthropic investment is essential to push for the collection and analysis of longitudinal data that can help government better understand causality, outcomes, and societal savings. Government needs long-range data to see the connections between interventions now and outcomes 10, or even 20 years, down the road. Successful longitudinal data management requires coordination between various parties, substantial investments of time and money, and standardized data systems to help pull data in and push data out of the policy system.

#### **Providers**

In the same way that government needs to shift its mindset toward results, providers and nonprofits need to generate an organizational culture focused on outcomes. The new generation of innovative, adaptive providers should be able to collect, analyze, and manage data to find and implement solutions. As public sector leaders begin to create new types of social sector organizations, funders and service providers will need to work together. This necessitates a new way of thinking about operations and service provision, including two important moves toward an increased reliance on data and measurement:

- Investing in outcomes data collection. Nonprofit service providers may need to seek
  outside resources to increase their investment in data infrastructures and capacities for
  outcomes-focused evaluations. Existing grants from such organizations as the Charitable
  Sector Support program at the Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation can help nonprofits
  begin to transition in this direction.<sup>72</sup> Nonprofits can also take advantage of a growing
  number of inexpensive or free resources to collect and report data, including public data
  repositories on impact evaluations.<sup>73</sup>
- Building data and evaluation partnerships. Partnerships with third parties, particularly academia, interested in analyzing and evaluating area-specific outcomes can contribute to the provider market as a whole. A number of charitable foundations have worked to fund initiatives that contribute to the larger knowledge base on social outcomes and connect data points to the providers who can make a difference. The Laura and John Arnold Foundation, for example, has supported initiatives that connect justice organizations with better data analysis to improve policy outcomes, including the Maryland Data Analysis Center and the Chicago Crime Lab.<sup>74</sup>



## Conclusion

The public sector has an opportunity to create the government of the future: a government that is innovative, adaptive, and focused on solving our nation's greatest challenges. In current public spending debates, leaders too frequently lose sight of this broader vision for government and our nation. When end goals are forgotten, the dialogue turns political over productive and conversations become less about achieving results and more about checking the right boxes. With a clear vision on outcomes, policymakers and political leaders can answer the call to make smarter investments for the social good by looking for solutions, not line items. It is time for the public sector to unleash the transformative potential of new data and technology to make smarter funding decisions.

Each and every day, decisions about how government pays for social services affect real communities and determine the real opportunities afforded to or withheld from citizens. In these instances, the most vulnerable always stand to lose the most. Smarter government aims for better public spending and better policy that humanizes budget decisions.

The face of better public spending is a child who exits state foster care for good because government began paying providers for placing children in stable homes and not just for funneling children in and out of the system.<sup>75</sup> The face of better public spending is an unemployed American who finds stable work because government funded a program for placing the unemployed in jobs rather than merely supporting individuals while they look for work.<sup>76</sup> When policymakers and public sector leaders agree on the most effective method of providing public services, governments make smarter investments that are good not only for the direct beneficiaries, but also for all citizens.

Together we can embrace our most difficult challenges and forge a vision for the future. It will not be easy, but government must be an agent of change toward an outcomes-focused mindset. Both sides of the political aisle can—and must—move to action. Liberals who champion poverty alleviation, social justice, and equality are championing only platitudes if they continue to perpetuate a system that keeps public wealth in the hands of the private few. Conservatives who champion fiscal responsibility are championing only waste if they continue to support a system that promises accountability but delivers empty policies with little positive effect on the lives of citizens.

To improve social outcomes and increase opportunity for all its citizens, government needs to do more of what works, and less of what does not. We know that effective and outcomesfocused policies can increase access to opportunity, make government more accountable, and empower citizens in the process. With this knowledge, it is fiscally and morally irresponsible to idle. America can introduce a new normal in government: an era of smarter governance driven by innovation and an outcomes-focused mindset. The call to build a better government is not an issue of the left or the right; it is our shared mission as Americans to build a nation that strives for more, prospers in the face of adversity, and delivers on the promise of smarter government for social impact.



## Glossary of Key Terms

**Active Learning:** A model of education that relies on active assessment and engagement between parties to encourage critical problem solving. In this paper, it refers to the continual evaluation and collaboration between governments, policymakers, and service providers to assess progress toward targeted policy outcomes.

**Agency:** A permanent or semi-permanent division of government responsible for oversight and/or implementation of specific government functions.

**Buy-in:** Active support of and willingness to participate in or contribute to an idea or proposal, such as a new policy, structure, or culture.

**Data:** The available sources of information, facts, accounts, analysis, and inferences used to derive knowledge and build evidence. Data can be (or can be a mixture of):

- Qualitative: Research that does not rely solely or at all on numerical values to support
  conclusions. Qualitative data includes, but is not limited to, anthropological studies,
  observations, participant interviews and surveys, historical and descriptive accounts,
  and the linking of causal chains through narrative descriptors.
- Quantitative: Research that relies on assigned numerical values and mathematically based methods to support conclusions. Quantitative data includes, but is not limited to, statistics, regressions, longitudinal studies, randomized controlled trials, and large-N analysis.
- Both qualitative and quantitative data are susceptible to research bias.

**Data Infrastructure:** The digital and physical components comprising a network for the sharing, reporting, and consumption of quantitative and qualitative information needed for operational functions.

**Data System:** The process by which any government entity or organization collects and manages information; used to support evidence and information sharing across governments and/or departments.

**Discretionary Spending:** Discretionary spending, mandatory spending, and net interest comprise the three main categories of federal spending. Discretionary spending is the portion of the federal budget that is decided and controlled by Congress through annual appropriations acts.<sup>77</sup>

**Evaluation:** The process of and results from an impartial assessment of a given organization, program, or policy based on stated objectives. Evaluations in outcomes-focused agreements differ from traditional grant evaluations in assessing the achievement of outcomes rather than measuring whether a requisite number of inputs and outputs were performed.

Impact Evaluation: A type of evaluation that seeks to measure the actual effect of a
given policy or program in relation to stated goals and objectives. Impact evaluations
assess both intended and unintended changes that can be causally attributed to the
policy or program, usually through comparable data and/or control groups to measure
difference in outcomes.

**Evidence:** (In regards to evaluations and assessments) Proof, as best as it can be determined through social scientific studies, that a given intervention (a variable x) produced an intended outcome (a desired effect on y). Evidence refers to positive results from evaluations that prove the level of impact of a program; in other words, a very specific type of knowledge related to established efficacy.

**Frontline Workers:** Representatives of agencies/organizations that interact directly with customers or beneficiaries of a particular service; may also serve as a communication intermediary between those receiving and providing services.

**Funding Pipeline:** As used in this paper, the process and institutional channels through which proposals, pilots, and new policy projects receive government funding and become eligible and authorized for funding.

**Human Infrastructure:** The competencies of individuals within a given system or organization, including the skills, knowledge, and experiences of participating individuals in regard to the contribution these competencies make to the structure and operation of the system or organization.

**Innovation:** The process of deliberately applying knowledge, imagination, and inventiveness to introduce novelties that disrupt, alter, replace, and/or improve current established thought and practice to create greater value.

**Inputs:** Resources, such as people, objects, or activities, put into a system to obtain a desired output. In traditional grant funding, inputs are the measurable resources, including time, staff, and money, needed to achieve stated program outputs.

**Intervention:** In this paper, policies and programs implemented by government and organizations to drive changes and/or provide services to individuals, populations, and groups to achieve better social outcomes for both beneficiaries and affected populations. Interventions are defined more broadly than programs, which may be considered one type or a part of a given intervention approach, and more narrowly than policies, which reflect strategy and intent.

**Knowledge:** In the context of this paper, knowledge is the interpretation of data, evidence, experience, evaluations, and existing information to reach informed conclusions about the effectiveness and potential/realized implications of policies or programs; what is held to be true about an action at a particular moment or circumstance based on the best information and interpretation available.

Longitudinal Data: The result of a process that collects observations through consistent and routine measurement of the same variable(s) at multiple and regular points in time. Longitudinal data sets measure changes over a given period and can help assess the impact of a policy or program by uniformly measuring observations from before and after implementation. While longitudinal data is defined simply by measurement over any given period of time, in public policy, longitudinal data sets generally measure change in variable(s) across years.

**Mandatory Spending:** Discretionary spending, mandatory spending, and net interest comprise the three main categories of federal spending. Mandatory spending is the portion of the federal budget that is fixed through existing legal statues outside of appropriations acts, including such entitlement programs as Social Security and Medicare.<sup>78</sup>

**Metrics (also Success Indicators):** Measurable and defined values (or sets of values and variables) that can be used to determine or suggest the level of impact and success of a policy, program, or activity in reaching a stated objective or outcome.

**Outcomes:** The end results and products causally related to specific actions, processes, or systems. In outcomes-focused agreements, outcomes are the results a program or policy is held to achieving and constitute a measurement of whether the initiative had a causally significant and intended impact according to the best evidence and evaluative tools available.

**Outcomes-Focused Agreement:** A contract or grant between a funder and a service provider where payment (including extra incentives to reward increasing levels of success) and financial rewards are contingent upon the achievement of agreed-upon and measurable outcomes.

**Outputs:** The measurable products and results obtained from a set of inputs or implementation of a specific activity. In traditional grant funding, outputs are the end products of a program or policy resulting from a defined set of inputs. Outputs can lead to outcomes, but are not synonymous with outcomes. Outputs are intermediary objectives that support the delivery of outcomes. (e.g., the outputs of a conference may include the number and description of participants and any resulting activities and products, such as papers or education materials.)

45

Pay for Success (or Social Impact Bond): A financing mechanism for public-private partner-ships where government payment is tied to the delivery of specific outcome(s). In these partnerships, government sets a specific, objective, and measurable outcome and promises to pay an external organization—sometimes called an intermediary—if, and only if, the organization accomplishes the desired outcome. Such agreements frequently rely on third-party evaluators to determine whether the outcome has been achieved. Often, external organizations turn to investors, who bear the up-front cost—and therefore the risk—of achieving the targeted, successful outcome by contributing the working capital needed to implement the social services that aim to achieve the outcome. If the agreement succeeds, the government releases an agreed-upon sum of money to the external organization, which then repays its investors with a return for taking on the up-front risk. If the agreement fails, government is not obligated to release payment, and investors do not get repaid with public funds.

**Policy:** An action, strategy, or principle used (or proposed) to guide government decision making and program implementation, or a specific plan or course adopted (or pending adoption) by government with concrete practices and guidance for implementation.

**Procurement:** In the context of this paper, the process and procedures related to a government's acquisition of goods, services, and/or works from an external source for the purposes of implementing public policy and social service programs.

**Program:** The activities, projects, and administrative and infrastructural components required to implement a particular objective, specifically in this paper in regard to operating social services.

**Pilot Program:** A small-scale, short-term project, policy, or activity funded on a trial basis to assess impact and feasibility of a new idea or approach.

**Provider Infrastructure:** The collection of human and physical capital, administrative and budgetary procedures, protocols, staffing structures, and other institutions used to effectively operate and oversee a given organization that government contracts with to implement aspects of social policies. Infrastructure can be both formal, such as budget authorization procedures, and informal, such as organizational culture.

**Risk:** Exposure to or the possibility of harm, loss, or otherwise adverse effects and circumstances. In finance and funding, the chance that a given investment will not produce intended returns or the potential for loss of part or all of an original investment.

Scale (v.): The process of increasing the scope, reach, size, and effect of a policy, program, or idea (or parts of these) while maintaining fidelity to initial intent and achieving similar results. In this paper, scaling may also refer to the act of increasing the impact and knowledge of an idea to achieve results at a higher level of government or a broader geographic or population area.

**Service Providers:** A government-contracted entity that delivers and implements social services or programs on behalf of government agencies. Service providers can also be sub-federal levels of government.

**Smarter Government:** An approach to governing that is more responsive to citizens' needs through the use of emergent technologies, data and information, and innovation in administrative and policy processes. "Smart" governance is a style of governing that is focused on using real-time information to find the best method of implementing policy without prescribing what that method is, will be, or should be in the future, relying instead on data and new technology to identify best practices for different communities at different times.



## **Endnotes**

- Katherine Driessen, "5 Years After Boy Dies From Toothache, Maryland Medicaid Dental Care Is on Mend," Washington Post, February 15, 2012, accessed July 31, 2105, <a href="https://www.washingtonpost.com/local/5-years-after-boy-dies-from-toothache-maryland-medicaid-dental-care-is-on-mend/2012/02/15/gIQANEJoGR\_story.html">https://www.washingtonpost.com/local/5-years-after-boy-dies-from-toothache-maryland-medicaid-dental-care-is-on-mend/2012/02/15/gIQANEJoGR\_story.html</a>.
- Mary Otto, "For Want of a Dentist," Washington Post, February 28, 2007, accessed July 16, 2015, http://www.washingtonpost.com/wp-dyn/content/article/2007/02/27/AR2007022702116.html.
- 3. Laura Ungar, "ER Visits For Dental Problems Rising," *Courier Journal*, June 28, 2015, accessed July 16, 2015, <a href="http://www.courier-journal.com/story/news/local/2015/06/24/er-visits-dental-problems-rising/29242113/">http://www.courier-journal.com/story/news/local/2015/06/24/er-visits-dental-problems-rising/29242113/</a>.
- Kamyar Nasseh, Diane Romaine, and Marko Vujici, "Diverting Emergency Department Dental Visits Could Save Maryland's Medicaid Program \$4 Million per Year," Health Policy Institute, American Dental Association, November 2014, accessed July 16, 2015, <a href="http://www.ada.org/~/media/ADA/Science">http://www.ada.org/~/media/ADA/Science</a> and Research/HPI/Files/HPIBrief\_1114\_2.ashx.
- Jim Tankersley, "Bloomberg to give \$42 million to help cities do more with data," Washington Post, April 19, 2015, accessed May 26, 2015, <a href="http://www.washingtonpost.com/blogs/wonkblog/wp/2015/04/19/cities-arent-great-with-data-could-mike-bloomberg-change-that/">http://www.washingtonpost.com/blogs/wonkblog/wp/2015/04/19/cities-arent-great-with-data-could-mike-bloomberg-change-that/</a>.
- 6. Nathaniel Popper, "For Goldman, Success in Social Impact Bond That Aids Schoolchildren," *New York Times*, October 7, 2015, accessed October 12, 2015, <a href="http://www.nytimes.com/2015/10/08/business/for-goldman-success-in-social-impact-bond-that-aids-schoolchildren.html?\_r=0.">http://www.nytimes.com/2015/10/08/business/for-goldman-success-in-social-impact-bond-that-aids-schoolchildren.html?\_r=0.</a>
- Chris Kardish, "New York's Big Medicaid Gamble," Governing, August 2015, accessed August 13, 2015, <a href="http://www.governing.com/topics/health-human-services/gov-new-york-value-based-medic-aid-payments.html">http://www.governing.com/topics/health-human-services/gov-new-york-value-based-medic-aid-payments.html</a>.
- 8. Tony Biglan, "Where Terrorism Research Goes Wrong," *New York Times*, March 6, 2015, accessed May 26, 2015, <a href="http://www.nytimes.com/2015/03/08/opinion/sunday/where-terrorism-research-went-wrong.html">http://www.nytimes.com/2015/03/08/opinion/sunday/where-terrorism-research-went-wrong.html</a>.
- 9. Michael Hiltzik, "The Case for Evidence-Based Policymaking in Washington," *Los Angeles Times*, February 1, 2015, accessed May 26, 2015, <a href="http://www.latimes.com/business/hiltzik/la-fi-hiltzik-20150131-column.html">http://www.latimes.com/business/hiltzik/la-fi-hiltzik-20150131-column.html</a>.
- Robert Gordon and Frederick M. Hess, "New Motto for a Leaner Washington: Pay for What Works," The Atlantic, February 24, 2014, accessed July 13, 2015, <a href="http://www.theatlantic.com/business/">http://www.theatlantic.com/business/</a> archive/2014/02/new-motto-for-a-leaner-washington-pay-for-what-works/284029/.
- 11. Robert Slavin, "Good Failure/Bad Failure," *The Huffington Post*, July 9, 2015, accessed July 13, 2015, <a href="http://www.huffingtonpost.com/robert-e-slavin/good-failurebad-failure\_b\_7763116.html">http://www.huffingtonpost.com/robert-e-slavin/good-failurebad-failure\_b\_7763116.html</a>.
- See U.S. Office of Management and Budget, Fiscal Year 2015 Budget of the U.S. Government (Washington, DC, March 4, 2014), accessed July 9, 2015, <a href="https://www.whitehouse.gov/sites/default/files/omb/budget/fy2015/assets/budget.pdf">https://www.whitehouse.gov/sites/default/files/omb/budget/fy2015/assets/budget.pdf</a>; Christina Hawley Anthony, Barry Blom, and Santiago Vallinas, "An Analysis of the President's 2015 Budget," Congressional Budget Office, April 2014, accessed October 13, 2015, <a href="https://www.cbo.gov/sites/default/files/113th-congress-2013-2014/reports/45230-APB\_OneColumn.pdf">https://www.cbo.gov/sites/default/files/113th-congress-2013-2014/reports/45230-APB\_OneColumn.pdf</a>.
- 13. See "Performance-Based Funding for Higher Education," National Conference of State Legisla-

tures, last modified January 13, 2015, accessed May 26, 2015, <a href="http://www.ncsl.org/research/education/performance-funding.aspx">http://www.ncsl.org/research/education/performance-funding.aspx</a>; U.S. Congress, Advisory Committee on Student Financial Assistance, <a href="https://example.com/pathways">Pathways to Success: Integrating Learning with Life and Work to Increase National College Completion</a>, report prepared for the use of the U.S. Congress and Secretary of Education, 113th Congress, 1st session, February 2012, accessed May 26, 2015, <a href="https://www2.ed.gov/about/bdscomm/list/acsfa/ptsreport2.pdf">https://www2.ed.gov/about/bdscomm/list/acsfa/ptsreport2.pdf</a>.

- Higher Education Working Group of the Lottery Stabilization Task Force, Incentive to Complete?
   Aligning the Tennessee Education Lottery Scholarship Program with Tennessee's College Completion Agenda, February 2011, accessed May 26, 2015, <a href="http://carrollcc.libguides.com/ld.php?content\_id=3432712">http://carrollcc.libguides.com/ld.php?content\_id=3432712</a>.
- 15. "College Affordability and Completion: Ensuring a Pathway to Opportunity," U.S. Department of Education, accessed October 5, 2015, http://www.ed.gov/college.
- 16. See "Performance-Based Funding for Higher Education," National Conference of State Legislatures, last modified January 13, 2015, accessed May 26, 2015, <a href="http://www.ncsl.org/research/education/performance-funding.aspx">http://www.ncsl.org/research/education/performance-funding.aspx</a>; Kysie Miao, "Performance-Based Funding of Higher Education: A Detailed Look at Best Practices in 6 States," Center for American Progress, August 2012, accessed October 5, 2015, <a href="https://www.americanprogress.org/wp-content/uploads/issues/2012/08/pdf/performance\_funding.pdf">https://www.americanprogress.org/wp-content/uploads/issues/2012/08/pdf/performance\_funding.pdf</a>; Nancy Shulock and Martha Snyder, "Don't Dismiss Performance Funding," <a href="https://www.insidehighered.com/views/2013/12/05/performance-funding-isnt-perfect-recent-study-short-changes-it-essay.">https://www.insidehighered.com/views/2013/12/05/performance-funding-isnt-perfect-recent-study-short-changes-it-essay.</a>
- 17. Stephen Goldsmith, "How New York City Is Mainstreaming Data-Driven Governance," *Better, Faster, Cheaper (blog), Governing*, September 22, 2015, accessed October 5, 2015, <a href="http://www.governing.com/blogs/bfc/gov-new-york-city-data-driven-governance.html">http://www.governing.com/blogs/bfc/gov-new-york-city-data-driven-governance.html</a>.
- 18. John Roman, "Solving the Wrong Pockets Problem: How Pay for Success Promotes Investment in Evidence-Based Best Practices," The Urban Institute, September 29, 2015, accessed October 5, 2015, <a href="http://www.urban.org/research/publication/solving-wrong-pockets-problem.">http://www.urban.org/research/publication/solving-wrong-pockets-problem.</a>
- 19. Marine Cole, "3 Reasons Why Americans Would Pay More Taxes," *Fiscal Times*, March 12, 2015, accessed May 26, 2015, <a href="http://www.thefiscaltimes.com/2015/03/12/3-Reasons-Why-Americans-Would-Pay-More-Taxes">http://www.thefiscaltimes.com/2015/03/12/3-Reasons-Why-Americans-Would-Pay-More-Taxes</a>.
- Thomas N. Bethell, Virginia P. Reno, and Jasmine V. Tucker, Strengthening Social Security: What Do Americans Want? The National Academy of Social Insurance (Washington, DC: National Academy of Social Insurance, January 2013), accessed May 26, 2015, <a href="https://www.nasi.org/sites/default/files/research/What\_Do\_Americans\_Want.pdf">https://www.nasi.org/sites/default/files/research/What\_Do\_Americans\_Want.pdf</a>.
- 21. Rebecca Riffkin, "Americans Say Federal Gov't Wastes 51 Cents on the Dollar," *Gallup*, September 17, 2014, accessed May 26, 2015, <a href="http://www.gallup.com/poll/176102/americans-say-federal-gov-wastes-cents-dollar.aspx?utm\_source=position3&utm\_medium=related&utm\_campaign=tiles.">http://www.gallup.com/poll/176102/americans-say-federal-gov-wastes-cents-dollar.aspx?utm\_source=position3&utm\_medium=related&utm\_campaign=tiles.</a>
- Inimai Chettiar, Lauren-Brooke Eisen, Nicole Fortier, and Timothy Ross, Reforming Funding to Reduce Mass Incarceration, Brennan Center, New York University School of Law, 2013, 3-4, accessed May 26, 2015, <a href="https://www.brennancenter.org/sites/default/files/publications/REFORM\_FUND\_MASS\_INCARC\_web\_0.pdf">https://www.brennancenter.org/sites/default/files/publications/REFORM\_FUND\_MASS\_INCARC\_web\_0.pdf</a>
- 23. Eli Lehrer, "Criminal-Justice Reform and Federal Funding," The Corner, *National Review*, March 13, 2014, accessed May 26, 2015, <a href="http://www.nationalreview.com/corner/373277/criminal-justice-reform-and-federal-funding-eli-lehrer">http://www.nationalreview.com/corner/373277/criminal-justice-reform-and-federal-funding-eli-lehrer</a>.

- 24. Fredrick C. Harris and Robert C. Lieberman, "Racial Inequality After Racism," *Foreign Affairs*, March/April 2015, accessed May 26, 2015, <a href="https://www.foreignaffairs.com/articles/unit-ed-states/2015-03-01/racial-inequality-after-racism">https://www.foreignaffairs.com/articles/unit-ed-states/2015-03-01/racial-inequality-after-racism</a>.
- Clara Miller, "Can Social-Impact Bonds Really Have Big Impact?" Chronicle of Philanthropy, March 29, 2015, accessed July 14, 2015, <a href="https://philanthropy.com/article/Opinion-Can-Social-Impact/228887">https://philanthropy.com/article/Opinion-Can-Social-Impact/228887</a>.
- 26. Jason Furman, "Smart Social Programs," *New York Times*, May 11, 2014, accessed July 13, 2015, http://www.nytimes.com/2015/05/11/opinion/smart-social-programs.html?\_r=0.
- 27. Social Finance, Inc., A New Tool for Scaling Impact: How Social Impact Bonds Can Mobilize Private Capital to Advance Social Good, 2012, 25, accessed May 26, 2015, <a href="https://www.socialfinanceus.org/sites/socialfinanceus.org/files/small.SocialFinanceWPSingleFINAL.pdf">https://www.socialfinanceus.org/sites/socialfinanceus.org/files/small.SocialFinanceWPSingleFINAL.pdf</a>.
- 28. Hiltzik, "The Case for Evidence-Based Policymaking."
- Emily Gustafsson-Wright, "Reflections on Universal Children's Day: How the U.S. Is Paving the Way by Thinking Outside the Box," *Brookings Education Plus Development Blog*, November 20, 2014, accessed June 28, 2015, <a href="http://www.brookings.edu/blogs/education-plus-development/posts/2014/11/20-universal-children-day-gustafsson-wright">http://www.brookings.edu/blogs/education-plus-development/posts/2014/11/20-universal-children-day-gustafsson-wright</a>.
- 30. Joe Barrett, "Novel Investment to Boost Preschools," *Wall Street Journal*, June 13, 2013, accessed June 28, 2015, <a href="http://www.wsj.com/articles/SB10001424127887324188604578542204165759948">http://www.wsj.com/articles/SB10001424127887324188604578542204165759948</a>.
- 31. Elaine S. Povich, "State Budgeting With an Eye on Results," *The Pew Charitable Trusts Stateliness Blog*, August 27, 2014, accessed July 10, 2015, <a href="http://www.pewtrusts.org/en/research-and-analy-sis/blogs/stateline/2014/08/28/state-budgeting-with-an-eye-on-results">http://www.pewtrusts.org/en/research-and-analy-sis/blogs/stateline/2014/08/28/state-budgeting-with-an-eye-on-results</a>.
- 32. Chettiar, Eisen, Fortier, and Ross, Reforming Funding to Reduce Mass Incarceration.
- 33. "Protecting Youth," Office of Criminal Justice, City of New York, accessed May 26, 2015, http://www.nyc.gov/html/cjc/html/youth/risk.shtml.
- 34. Jennifer Fratello, Sara Mogulescu, and Annie Salsich, *Juvenile Detention Reform in New York City: Measuring Risk through Research, Center on Youth Justice*, Vera Institute of Justice, April 2011, accessed May 26, 2015, <a href="http://www.vera.org/pubs/juvenile-detention-reform-new-york-city-measuring-risk-through-research-0">http://www.vera.org/pubs/juvenile-detention-reform-new-york-city-measuring-risk-through-research-0</a>.
- 35. The Beeck Center's *Funding for Results* provides several examples of how up-front investments in outcomes-focused policy can result in savings. For instance, when the State of Colorado invested in a data contractor to manage information across a new, outcomes-focused Medicaid system, savings realized in the first year more than covered the cost of the initial investment (see Beeck Center, *Funding For Results*, 46).
- 36. Beeck Center, Funding For Results, 23-29.
- 37. Nancy Cartwright, *Evidence-Based Policy: Where Is Our Theory of Evidence?* London School of Economics, 2007, accessed May 26, 2015, <a href="http://eprints.lse.ac.uk/32016/">http://eprints.lse.ac.uk/32016/</a>.
- 38. Nick Anderson, "Ex-Dodgers Owner McCourt Gives Georgetown \$100 Million to Launch Public Policy School," *Washington Post*, September 18, 2013, accessed July 10, 2015, <a href="http://www.washingtonpost.com/local/education/ex-dodgers-owner-mccourt-gives-georgetown-100-million-to-launch-public-policy-school/2013/09/17/0e19e3dc-1f96-1le3-8459-657e0c72fec8\_story.html">http://www.washingtonpost.com/local/education/ex-dodgers-owner-mccourt-gives-georgetown-100-million-to-launch-public-policy-school/2013/09/17/0e19e3dc-1f96-1le3-8459-657e0c72fec8\_story.html</a>.

- 39. Institute of Education Sciences, U.S. Department of Education, and the National Science Foundation, *Common Guidelines for Education Research and Development*, August 2013, accessed August 13, 2015, <a href="http://www.nsf.gov/pubs/2013/nsf13126/nsf13126.pdf">http://www.nsf.gov/pubs/2013/nsf13126/nsf13126.pdf</a>.
- 40. "Who We Are," Arkansas Research Center, accessed May 26, 2015, https://arc.arkansas.gov/who.
- 41. "CITIE," Nesta, last modified July 21, 2015, accessed July 10, 2015, http://www.nesta.org.uk/project/citie.
- 42. Natasha Lomas, "Report Ranks New York, London, Helsinki Top Cities for Startup Policymaking," *TechCrunch Blog*, June 24, 2015, accessed July 10, 2015, <a href="https://techcrunch.com/2015/06/24/report-ranks-new-york-london-helsinki-top-cities-for-pro-startup-policymaking/">https://techcrunch.com/2015/06/24/report-ranks-new-york-london-helsinki-top-cities-for-pro-startup-policymaking/</a>
- 43. Scott Cain, John Gibson, and Matthew Robinson, *City Initiatives for Technology, Innovation and Entrepreneurship: A resource for city leadership*, CITIE 2015 Report, April 2015, accessed July 15, 2015, <a href="https://citie.org/wp-content/uploads/2015/04/CITIE\_Report\_2015.pdf">https://citie.org/wp-content/uploads/2015/04/CITIE\_Report\_2015.pdf</a>
- 44. Beeck Center, Funding for Results.
- 45. Juliana Reyes, "Meet the 10 Companies in First Fastfwd Social Enterprise Accelerator Class," *Technical.ly Philly*, last modified December 28, 2014, accessed July 9, 2015, <a href="http://technical.ly/philly/2014/02/21/fastfwd-accelerator-companies/">http://technical.ly/philly/2014/02/21/fastfwd-accelerator-companies/</a>.
- 46. Juliana Reyes, "How Fastfwd Company Algorhythm Is Fighting Recidivism With Software," *Technical.ly Philly*, last modified December 28, 2014, accessed July 9, 2015, <a href="http://technical.ly/philly/2014/08/21/algorhythm-fastfwd-pete-york-recidivism/">http://technical.ly/philly/2014/08/21/algorhythm-fastfwd-pete-york-recidivism/</a>
- 47. John Kelly, "Florida's New Predictive Risk Tool Likely to Drive Down Juvenile Incarceration," *Chronicle of Social Change*, June 23, 2015, accessed August 13, 2015, <a href="https://chronicleofsocial-change.org/featured/floridas-new-predictive-risk-tool-likely-to-drive-down-juvenile-incarceration/10505">https://chronicleofsocial-change.org/featured/floridas-new-predictive-risk-tool-likely-to-drive-down-juvenile-incarceration/10505</a>.
- 48. Andrew Asher and Scott Cody, "Smarter, Better, Faster: The Potential for Predictive Analytics and Rapid-Cycle Evaluation to Improve Program Development and Outcomes," Policies to Address Poverty in America, The Hamilton Project, Brookings Institution, June 19, 2014, accessed August 13, 2015, <a href="http://www.brookings.edu/research/interactives/2014/hamilton-policies-addressing-poverty">http://www.brookings.edu/research/interactives/2014/hamilton-policies-addressing-poverty</a>.
- 49. Beeck Center, Funding for Results.
- 50. "About Us," Youth Villages, last modified May 19, 2015, accessed July 15, 2015, http://www.youthvillages.org/about-us.
- Julianna Alson, Erin Jacobs, Michelle Manno, and Melanie Skemer, Moving into Adulthood: Implementation Findings from the Youth Villages Transitional Living Evaluation, MDRC, March 2014, accessed July 14, 2015, http://www.mdrc.org/sites/default/files/moving\_into\_adulthhood\_fr\_2.pdf.
- 52. Mark E. Courtney, Melanie Skemer, Erin Jacobs Valentine, *Becoming Adults: One-Year Impact Findings from the Youth Villages Transitional Living Evaluation*, MDRC, May 2015, accessed July 14, 2015, <a href="https://www.mdrc.org/publication/becoming-adults">https://www.mdrc.org/publication/becoming-adults</a>.
- 53. Youth Villages, Youth Villages' Transitional Living Program 10-year Report, 2012, accessed July 14, 2015, http://www.youthvillages.org/Portals/0/PDFs/media\_section/YV\_TLP\_10YR\_PRESS.pdf

- 54. Alson et al, Moving into Adulthood.
- 55. Mariana Mazzucato, *The Entrepreneurial State: Debunking Public vs. Private Sector Myths* (London: Anthem Press, 2013), 3.
- 56. Ibid., 20, citing Batelle, 2005.
- 57. Ibid., 3.
- 58. Beeck Center, Funding For Results.
- Maryland Department of Human Resources, *Place Matters in Maryland: A Report on Child Welfare*, September 2009, accessed June 28, 2015, <a href="https://www.dhr.state.md.us/documents/Data%20">https://www.dhr.state.md.us/documents/Data%20</a> and%20Reports/Central/Place-Matters-Report-2007-2009.pdf.
- 60. Maryland Department of Human Resources, *Progress Report: Place Matters*, October 2014, accessed June 28, 2015, <a href="http://www.dhr.state.md.us/documents/Data%20and%20Reports/">http://www.dhr.state.md.us/documents/Data%20and%20Reports/</a>
  <a href="https://documents/Data%20and%20Reports/">DHR%20Progress%20Reports/Progress%20Reports/Progress%20Reports/Progress%20Reports/Data%20Andmarkers</a>
- 61. Tarren Bragdon, 2012 Right for Kids Ranking: Which State Child Welfare Systems Are Right for Kids? Foundation for Government Accountability, 2012, accessed October 5, 2015, <a href="http://rightfork-ids.org/files/8113/4064/8461/FGA-RightForKidsBook-web-single-pages.pdf">http://rightfork-ids.org/files/8113/4064/8461/FGA-RightForKidsBook-web-single-pages.pdf</a>.
- 62. See "Pew-MacArthur Results First Initiative," Pew Charitable Trusts, John D. and Catherine T. MacArthur Foundation, last modified 2015, accessed May 26, 2015, <a href="http://www.pewtrusts.org/en/projects/pew-macarthur-results-first-initiative">http://www.pewtrusts.org/en/projects/pew-macarthur-results-first-initiative</a>; "Mayors Challenge," Bloomberg Philanthropies, last modified 2015, accessed May 26, 2015, <a href="http://mayorschallenge.bloomberg.org">http://mayorschallenge.bloomberg.org</a>; "What Works Cities," Bloomberg Philanthropies, last modified 2015, accessed May 26, 2015, <a href="http://whatworkscities.bloomberg.org">http://whatworkscities.bloomberg.org</a>.
- 63. See Greg Fischer, "Data Drives Innovation in Louisville," CNN Money, December 16, 2014, accessed May, 26, 2015, <a href="http://money.cnn.com/2014/12/10/news/economy/louisville-greg-fischer-in-novation/">http://money.cnn.com/2014/12/10/news/economy/louisville-greg-fischer-in-novation/</a>; Jim Tankersley, "Bloomberg to Give \$42 Million to Help Cities Do More With Data," Wonkblog, Washington Post, April 19, 2015, accessed May 26, 2015, <a href="http://www.washingtonpost.com/blogs/wonkblog/wp/2015/04/19/cities-arent-great-with-data-could-mike-bloomberg-change-that/">http://www.washingtonpost.com/blogs/wonkblog/wp/2015/04/19/cities-arent-great-with-data-could-mike-bloomberg-change-that/</a>.
- 64. "Laws & Guidance: The Federal Role in Education," U.S. Department of Education, last modified February 13, 2012, accessed July 31, 2015, <a href="http://www2.ed.gov/about/overview/fed/role.html">http://www2.ed.gov/about/overview/fed/role.html</a>.
- 65. "State Success Stories," The Early Childhood Data Collaborative, accessed July 14, 2015, <a href="http://www.ecedata.org/state-success-stories">http://www.ecedata.org/state-success-stories</a>.
- 66. Adam Mazmanian, "OMB launches digital services team to guide IT projects," FCW, August 11, 2014, accessed October 13, 2015, <a href="https://fcw.com/Articles/2014/08/11/OMB-launches-digital-ser-vices-team.aspx?s=FCWmore.">https://fcw.com/Articles/2014/08/11/OMB-launches-digital-ser-vices-team.aspx?s=FCWmore.</a>
- 67. The Association of Government Accountants, *Blended and Braided Funding: A Guide for Policy Makers and Practitioners*, Work Group on Blended and Braided Funding, Intergovernmental Partnership, December 2014, 6, accessed May 26, 2015, <a href="https://www.agacgfm.org/AGA/Research-Publications/documents/Blended-and-Braided-Funding\_final.pdf">https://www.agacgfm.org/AGA/Research-Publications/documents/Blended-and-Braided-Funding\_final.pdf</a>.
- 68. Consolidated Appropriations Act of 2014, H.Res. 3547, Section 526, 113th Cong., 2nd sess., *Congressional Record*, vol. 160, daily ed. (Jan. 15, 2014).

- 69. Kimberlee R. Cornett, "The Kresge Foundation's Social Impact Transactions," *PD & R Edge*, U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development, accessed July 16, 2015, <a href="http://www.huduser.org/portal/pdredge/pdr\_edge\_hudpartrpt\_120513.html">http://www.huduser.org/portal/pdredge/pdr\_edge\_hudpartrpt\_120513.html</a>.
- 70. Rachel Kaufman, "Here's How Hoboken Could Pay for a Giant Anti-Flooding Bathtub," *The Works, Next City,* May 15, 2015, accessed October 9, 2015, <a href="https://nextcity.org/daily/entry/disaster-flood-insurance-rebound-city-resilience">https://nextcity.org/daily/entry/disaster-flood-insurance-rebound-city-resilience</a>.
- 71. Jason Shueh, "Detroit Revitalizes City with 311 App," *Government Technology*, May 7, 2015, accessed July 8, 2015, http://www.govtech.com/Detroit-Revitalizes-City-with-311-App.html.
- 72. "What We Do: Charitable Sector Support, Strategy Overview," Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation, accessed July 10, 2015, <a href="http://www.gatesfoundation.org/What-We-Do/Global-Policy/Charita-ble-Sector-Support">http://www.gatesfoundation.org/What-We-Do/Global-Policy/Charita-ble-Sector-Support</a>
- 73. John Sotsky, "Lessons from Knight Foundation: How to Beef Up Your Data Game," *Fluxx*, August 21, 2014, accessed July 10, 2015, <a href="http://blog.fluxx.io/lessons-from-knight-foundation-how-to-beef-up-your-data-game">http://blog.fluxx.io/lessons-from-knight-foundation-how-to-beef-up-your-data-game</a>.
- 74. Tate Williams, "Next Stop for Data Philanthropy: Reforming the Criminal Justice System," *Inside Philanthropy*, May 15, 2015, accessed July 14, 2015, <a href="https://www.insidephilanthropy.com/home/2015/5/15/next-stop-for-data-philanthropy-reforming-the-criminal-justi.html">https://www.insidephilanthropy.com/home/2015/5/15/next-stop-for-data-philanthropy-reforming-the-criminal-justi.html</a>
- 75. Beeck Center, Funding for Results, 49–54.
- Dana Rotz, Nan Maxwell, and Adam Dunn, Economic Self-Sufficiency and Life Stability One Year After Starting a Social Enterprise Job, Mathematica Policy Research Report, January 13, 2015, accessed May 26, 2015, <a href="http://redf.org/wordpress/wp-content/uploads/2015/02/REDF-MJS-Final-Report.pdf">http://redf.org/wordpress/wp-content/uploads/2015/02/REDF-MJS-Final-Report.pdf</a>.
- D. Andrew Austin, Mindy R. Levit, and Jeffrey M. Stupak, Mandatory Spending Since 1962, Congressional Research Service, March 18, 2015, accessed July 17, 2015, https://www.fas.org/sgp/crs/misc/RL33074.pdf.
- 78. Ibid.



## **About the Authors**

## Beeck Center for Social Impact + Innovation at Georgetown University

Founded in 2014, the Beeck Center for Social Impact + Innovation at Georgetown University seeks to transform the social sector through innovative, actionable frameworks that leverage capital, technology, and inclusion to achieve social impact at scale. The Center engages global leaders and influencers in solutions-focused dialogue and pursues action-oriented, dynamic research combined with experiential opportunities to provide tools for social change. We promote collaborative spaces that foster new ideas and prepare the next generation of leaders to create positive change in the world. The Center focuses on three areas of research and learning: government innovation, impact investing, and civic technology.

### Jim Shelton

Jim Shelton is 2U's Chief Impact Officer, overseeing university partner program implementation, research, and university relations. Jim holds a bachelor's degree in computer science from Morehouse College as well as master's degrees in both business administration and education from Stanford GSB and GSE.

Prior to 2U, Jim served as the Deputy Secretary and COO of the U.S. Department of Education and led a range of management, policy, and program functions in support of educational access and excellence for America's children, especially those least advantaged. While in government, he also launched and led the President's My Brother's Keeper initiative; and served on and led multiple interagency efforts focused on increasing economic opportunity and entrepreneurship and building the enabling technology and R&D infrastructures to accelerate progress.

Earlier in his career, Jim opened the east coast offices of NewSchools Venture Fund and became the program director for education at the Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation, where he managed a \$2-3 billion portfolio of non-profit investments.

He has chaired numerous non-profit boards and led domestic and international social sector initiatives ranging from economic development to voter education in emerging democracies. Jim currently resides in his hometown, Washington, DC, with his wife and their two sons.

## **About Our Guest Contributors**

#### Laurel Blatchford

Senior Vice President for Solutions, Enterprise Community Partners, Inc.

As senior vice president for Solutions at Enterprise Community Partners, Inc., Laurel leads the organization's national programmatic work, including the teams working in Enterprise's local markets across the United States. She also oversees Enterprise's groundbreaking initiatives focused on connecting people and communities to opportunity. In addition, Laurel directs Enterprise Advisors, the organization's consulting and technical assistance platform. Laurel is a member of the Enterprise executive team, reporting directly to the CEO. Prior to joining Enterprise, Laurel held a number of senior leadership positions in government and the private sector, including chief of staff to Secretary Shaun Donovan at the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD); executive director of the Hurricane Sandy Task Force, an interagency team created by Executive Order to lead the long-term recovery effort; and senior member in the administration of New York City Mayor Michael Bloomberg.

A New York native, Laurel graduated cum laude from Williams College and received a master's degree in public policy from the Harvard Kennedy School. She has served on numerous boards and currently serves on the board of the National Housing Trust, the Hopkins School Head's Advisory Council, the Advisory Council of the International WELL Building Institute, and the National Resource Network governing board. She lives with her husband and daughters in Washington, DC.

#### Linda Gibbs

Principal of Social Services, Bloomberg Associates

Linda Gibbs is Principal of the Social Services Practice at Bloomberg Associates, an international philanthropic consulting venture that advises city governments on how to improve the quality of life of their citizens. The Social Services Practice focuses on improving citizens' welfare and reducing disparities in health, welfare, and justice outcomes.

Previously, Linda Gibbs served as New York City Deputy Mayor of Health and Human Services from 2005-2013. Supervising the city's human service, public health, and social justice agencies, she spearheaded major initiatives on poverty alleviation, juvenile justice reform, and obesity reduction. "Age Friendly NYC," a blueprint for enhancing livability for older New Yorkers; and "Young Men's Initiative," addressing race-based disparities facing Black and Latino young men in the areas of health, education, employment training, and the justice system, are two of the collaborative efforts she shaped to address significant social challenges. Gibbs also improved the use of data and technology in human service management, contract effectiveness, and evidence-based program development. During her tenure, New York City

has been the only top-20 city in the U.S. whose poverty rate did not increase while the national average rose 28 percent.

Prior to her appointment as Deputy Mayor, Gibbs was Commissioner of the New York City Department of Homeless Services and held senior positions with the Administration for Children's Services and the Office of Management and Budget.

## Jeremy Keele

Managing Director, Sorenson Center, University of Utah's David Eccles School of Business

As Managing Director, Jeremy Keele coordinates the Center's work across sectors to develop innovative and data-driven approaches to difficult social challenges. Prior to joining the Sorenson Center, Keele was senior adviser to Salt Lake County Mayor Ben McAdams from 2013 to 2015. Before that, Keele practiced corporate transactional law in New York, London, and Los Angeles with the law firms of Cleary Gottlieb and Latham & Watkins, from 2006 to 2012. Keele received his JD from New York University in 2006, a Masters in Public Administration from Harvard's Kennedy School of Government in 2006 and bachelor's degrees in biology and French from Brigham Young University in 2001. Keele and his wife, Amy, have three young boys.

#### **Justin Milner**

Senior Research Associate, Urban Institute

Justin Milner is a Senior Research Associate in the Policy Advisory Group at the Urban Institute, a research center dedicated to understanding pressing issues facing America's cities. Their research portfolio ranges from the social safety net to health and tax policies; the well-being of families and neighborhoods; and trends in work, earnings, and wealth building. Justin is also the Managing Director of the Pay For Success Initiative.

Before joining Urban, Milner was a Senior Associate at the Annie E. Casey Foundation, where he worked to increase evidence-based programs in child-serving public systems. He has also worked as a Presidential Management Fellow in the Office of the Assistant Secretary for Planning and Evaluation at the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. Milner spent three years teaching in Los Angeles with Teach For America.

Milner received a BA in political science from Yale University and a MPA from the Woodrow Wilson School at Princeton University.



Join the conversation. #DriveImpact. @BeeckCenter



Beeck Center for Social Impact + Innovation Georgetown University 3700 O St., NW, ICC 100 Washington, DC 20057